

University of the Pacific Scholarly Commons

University of the Pacific Theses and Dissertations

**Graduate School** 

2020

# Role of Polymer Physicochemical Properties on in vitro Mucoadhesion

Qing Zhang University of the Pacific, q\_zhang6@u.pacific.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarlycommons.pacific.edu/uop\_etds

Part of the Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences Commons

### **Recommended Citation**

Zhang, Qing. (2020). *Role of Polymer Physicochemical Properties on in vitro Mucoadhesion*. University of the Pacific, Thesis. https://scholarlycommons.pacific.edu/uop\_etds/3698

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at Scholarly Commons. It has been accepted for inclusion in University of the Pacific Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Scholarly Commons. For more information, please contact mgibney@pacific.edu.

## ROLE OF POLYMER PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES ON *IN VITRO* MUCOADHESION

By

Qing Zhang

A Thesis Submitted to the

Graduate School

In Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

## MASTER OF SCIENCE

Thomas J. Long School of Pharmacy and Health Sciences Pharmaceutical and Chemical Sciences

University of the Pacific Stockton, California

1

2020

## ROLE OF POLYMER PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES ON *IN VITRO* MUCOADHESION

By

## Qing Zhang

## APPROVED BY

Thesis Advisor: Bhaskara R. Jasti, Ph.D.

Thesis Co-advisor: Xiaoling Li, Ph.D.

Committee Member: Ramakrishna Gadiraju, Ph.D.

Department Chair: William K. Chan, Ph.D.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My sincerely gratitude goes to Dr. Bhaskara Jasti for his guidance, patience, and encouragement while I navigated graduate school over the past two years. He provided me numerous opportunities to broaden my horizon and guide me to find my personal direction. He put great efforts to make me a responsible scientist, and I really appreciated it from the bottom of my heart. I gratefully thank Dr. Xiaoling Li, for offering me the chance to study in UOP, and for his valuable guidance, assistance, and suggestions in my research study. I would like to thank Dr. Ramakrishna Gadiraju for his guidance and support in my project. I felt grateful to have Dr. Xiaoling Li and Dr. Ramakrishna Gadiraju as my thesis committee members.

I would like to especially thank Margrit Mekhaeil Mahrous Ayoub. She was the first person I worked with since I came to this university, and she had tremendous impact on me. I loved working with her, she was not only a teacher but also a friend to me. I would like to thank Dr. Shiladitya Bhattacharya for training me with the laboratory instruments. I would like to thank Pramila and Divya, for their support in both academic and personal life. We had a lot of fun in the lab, and I felt thankful to have them as my labmates. I would also like to thank Zahir, Jingda and Ryan for providing me advice and helping me with problems related to my research project. I would like to express my gratitude to my boyfriend Zizhao, for giving me great mental support throughout these two years. I was grateful that I met him, and he always stayed by my side. I would also like to thank Zhongyue, Guanming, Rui, Ruiqi, Xinyu, Yiyuan, Hao, Dengpan, Zhixin, Yingbo, You, Jinyun, Yujie, Fang, Yifan, Shen, Chao, Dan, Yong, Arjun, Michael and Toufiq, my life was so much more wonderful because of them. I would like to express my thankfulness to Lynda, Kathy, and Sonya and all PCSP faculty and staff for their kindness and support during my study lie in UOP.

Finally, I would like to thank all my family members, especially my mother and father. They contributed so much for providing me the opportunity to study aboard. They built a happy and comfortable life for me. Words can never express how thankful I am to have them as my parents and how lucky I am to be their daughter. Without their unconditional love and sacrifice, I could never be who I am today.

## ROLE OF POLYMER PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES ON *IN VITRO* MUCOADHESION

Abstract

By Qing Zhang

University of the Pacific 2020

Polymers with mucoadhesive properties are universally used in the development of mucoadhesive drug delivery system. Their physicochemical properties as well as the mechanisms related to their adhesive actions draw great attention for the modification of mucoadhesive properties.

In this study, relationships between physicochemical properties of hydroxypropyl methylcellulose (HPMC) compacts and mucoadhesive performance were investigated. Different commercial grades of HPMC (K3, E3, E5, E50, K4M, E4M and K15M) were prepared into compacts, and their surface hydrophilicity and hydration behavior were characterized. The *in vitro* mucoadhesive performance was determined by the tension strength between the compacts and different regions of mucous membrane (buccal, sublingual, stomach, and intestine). Positive correlations were found between: (1) viscosity of HPMC compacts and contact angle values measured by different simulated body fluids; (2) viscosity of HPMC compacts and *in vitro* mucoadhesive force; (3) contact angle values and *in vitro* mucoadhesive force. The hydration behavior exhibited improvement with the increasing viscosity of HPMC compacts. Moreover, the polar lipid content of each mucosa was likely an important factor affecting the mucoadhesion phenomenon.

Different ratios of ethyl cellulose (EC) was mixed with HPMC grade K15M to form combination compacts for the purpose of modifying the surface property. The mucoadhesive mechanism of both different grades of HPMC compacts and combination compacts were studied via the thermodynamic analysis of Lifshiz-van der Waals interaction and Lewis acid-base interaction. The total free energy of adhesion ( $\Delta G^{TOT}$ ) provided a prediction of an overall tendency of mucoadhesion, however, the results were showing disagreement with the measured mucoadhesive force. In general, the involving of EC in the combination compacts did not give a boost to the whole mucoadhesive performance.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

t of Tables	
st of Figures	
apter 1: Introduction	
1.1. Fundamentals of Mucoadhesion	
1.1.1. Mucus Layer and Mucin	
1.1.2. Mucus Physicochemical Properties	
1.1.3. Mechanisms of Mucoadhesion	
1.1.3.1. Contact stage	
1.1.3.2. Consolidation stage	
1.2. Theories of Mucoadhesion	
1.2.1. Wetting Theory	
1.2.2. Diffusion Theory	
1.2.3. Electronic Theory	
1.2.4. Adsorption Theory	
1.2.5. Mechanical Theory	
1.2.6. Fracture Theory	
1.3. Factors Influencing Mucoadhesion	
1.3.1. Polymeric Factors	

1.3.1.1. Molecular weight.	
1.3.1.2. Hydrogen bonding capacity.	
1.3.1.3. Hydration	
1.3.1.4. Degree of crosslinking.	
1.3.1.5. Flexibility	
1.3.1.6. Charge	
1.3.1.7. Spatial conformation	
1.3.2. Environmental Factors	
1.3.2.1. Applied strength and contact time	
1.3.2.2. pH	
1.3.3. Physiological Factors	
1.3.3.1. Mucin turnover	
1.3.3.2. Disease state	
1.4. Mucoadhesive Polymers	
1.4.1. First-generation Mucoadhesive Polymers	
1.4.1.1. Non-ionic polymer	
1.4.1.2. Anionic polymer.	
1.4.1.3. Cationic polymer	
1.4.2. Novel Second-generation Muco/bioadhesive Polymers	
1.4.2.1. Lectins	

1.4.2.2. Bacterial invasins
1.4.2.3. Thiomers
1.4.3. HPMC
1.5. Research Objectives
Chapter 2: The Relationship between Properties of HPMC and In Vitro Mucoadhesion
2.1. Introduction
2.2. Materials and Methods
2.2.1. Materials
2.2.2. Preparation of Polymer Compacts
2.2.3. Contact Angle Measurement
2.2.4. Mucosae Preparation
2.2.5. Force of Mucoadhesion Measurement
2.2.6. Hydration Study
2.3. Results and Discussion
2.3.1. The Relationship between Contact Angle and Viscosity
2.3.2. The Relationship between Contact Angle and Force of Mucoadhesion 47
2.3.3. The Impact of Lipid Content on Mucoadhesive Performance
2.3.4. Hydration Behavior
2.4. Summary
Chapter 3: Thermodynamic Analysis of Mucoadhesion on Polymer Compacts

3.1. Introduction	
3.2. Theory of Lewis Acid-Base Approach	61
3.3. Calculation of Theoretical Hydroxyl Values of HPMC	
3.4. Materials and Methods	66
3.4.1. Materials	66
3.4.2. Preparation of HPMC and Combination Compacts	66
3.4.3. Contact Angle Measurement	66
3.4.4. Force of Mucoadhesion Measurement	
3.5. Results and Discussion	
3.5.1. Thermodynamic Analysis of HPMC Compacts	
3.5.2. K15M & EC Combination Compacts	
3.5.3. Thermodynamic Analysis of Combination Compacts	
3.6. Summary	
Chapter 4: Conclusions	
References	

## LIST OF TABLES

1.1. Classification of Mucoadhesive Polymers	0
1.2. Recent Development of HPMC-Based Formulations	б
2.1. Properties of Different HPMC Grades	2
2.2. Composition of Simulated Saliva (SS)	2
2.3. Composition of Fasted State Simulated Gastric Fluid (FaSSGF)	2
2.4. Composition of Fasted State Simulated Intestinal Fluid (FaSSIF)	3
2.5. Lipid Content (mg/g dry) of Different Types of Mucosae	1
3.1. Surface Energy Parameters (in mJ/m <sup>2</sup> ) of Various Materials	7
3.2. The Apparent Contact Angles (°) of Water ( $\theta_{water}$ ), Glycerol ( $\theta_{GL}$ ), and Diiodomethane ( $\theta_{DIM}$ ) on the Surface of Different Grades of HPMC Compacts	8
3.3. Single Component of Surface Energy Parameters (in mJ/m <sup>2</sup> ) for HPMC Compacts	8
3.4. The Calculated Interfacial Free Energy Between Different Grade of HPMC Compacts and Different Media ( $\Delta G$ , in mJ/m <sup>2</sup> )	1
3.5. The Calculated Free Energy of Adhesion among Different Grade of HPMC Compacts, Mucin, and Different Media ( $\Delta G$ , in mJ/m <sup>2</sup> )	4
3.6. Calculated Number of Hydroxyl Groups and $\Delta G^{AB}$ of Different Media of Different Grades of HPMC	8
<ul><li>3.7. The Apparent Contact Angles (°) of Different Body Fluids (SS, FaSSGF, FaSSIF) on the Surface of Combination Compacts</li></ul>	2
3.8. The Apparent Contact Angles (°) of Water ( $\theta_{water}$ ), Glycerol ( $\theta_{GL}$ ), and Diiodomethane ( $\theta_{DIM}$ ) on the Surface of Dry Combination Compacts of HPMC K15M and EC	3

3.9.	Single Component of Surface Energy Parameters (in mJ/m <sup>2</sup> ) for Combination Compacts	. 84
3.10.	The Calculated Interfacial Free Energy between Combination Compacts and Different Media ( $\Delta G$ , in mJ/m <sup>2</sup> )	85
3.11.	The Calculated Total Free Energy of Adhesion among Combination Compacts, Mucin, and Different Body Fluids ( $\Delta G^{TOT}$ , in mJ/m <sup>2</sup> )	. 89

## LIST OF FIGURES

# Figure

1.1. Sch mu	hematic structure of mucin glycoproteins and their potentially acoadhesive elements.	. 18
1.2. Sch	heme of the two-stages mechanism of mucoadhesion	. 20
1.3. The with	e relationship between the contact angle formed by the polymeric surface th the mucosal interface and the strength of adhesion	. 23
1.4. Dif	ffusion interlocking model for the mucoadhesion of polymers	. 24
1.5. An	electronic model of mucoadhesion	. 25
2.1. The ang con	e correlation between different viscosity grades of HPMC and contact gle measured with various body fluid (SS, FaSSGF, FaSSIF) on dry mpacts	. 46
2.2. The por	e correlation between viscosity and force of mucoadhesion (FM) on rcine mucosae. Results measured on dry HPMC compacts	. 48
2.3. The on	e correlation between contact angle ( $\theta$ ) and force of mucoadhesion (FM) porcine mucosae. Results measured on dry HPMC compacts	. 48
2.4. The and	e lipid content of different types of mucosa (buccal, sublingual, stomach d intestine)	. 51
2.5. The	e correlation between slope of $\Delta FM/\Delta\theta$ and polar lipid content	. 52
2.6. Hy	dration behavior of HPMC compacts in normal saline at 5 minutes	. 53
2.7. For mea Leg	rce of mucoadhesion of different viscosity grades of HPMC compacts easured with porcine buccal mucosae in SS at different hydration levels. gends showing different time points in minutes	. 54
2.8. For mea leve	rce of mucoadhesion of different viscosity grades of HPMC compacts easured with porcine sublingual mucosae in SS at different hydration rels. Legends showing different time points in minutes	. 55
2.9. For mea leve	rce of mucoadhesion of different viscosity grades of HPMC compacts easured with porcine stomach mucosae in FaSSGF at different hydration rels. Legends showing different time points in minutes	. 55

2.10.	. Force of mucoadhesion of different viscosity grades of HPMC compacts measured with porcine intestinal mucosae in FaSSIF at different hydration levels. Legends showing different time points in minutes	. 56
3.1.	Chemical structure of EC	. 60
3.2.	The correlation between $\Delta G_{PW}$ of HPMC compacts and their contact angle data of water with the increase of viscosity	. 71
3.3.	The correlation between $\Delta G_{PS}$ of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine buccal mucosae with the increase of viscosity	. 72
3.4.	The correlation between $\Delta G_{PS}$ of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine sublingual mucosae with the increase of viscosity	. 72
3.5.	The correlation between $\Delta G_{PG}$ of HPMC compacts and force of mucoadhesion measured on porcine stomach mucosae with the increase of viscosity	. 73
3.6.	The correlation between $\Delta G_{PI}$ of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine intestinal mucosae with the increase of viscosity	. 73
3.7.	Effect of $\Delta G^{LW}$ and $\Delta G^{AB}$ on $\Delta G^{TOT}$ on the HPMC compact surface properties (A. normal saline; B. gastric fluid; C. intestinal fluid)	. 77
3.8.	The correlation between $\Delta G^{TOT}$ of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine buccal mucosae with the increase of viscosity	. 79
3.9.	The correlation between $\Delta G^{TOT}$ of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine sublingual mucosae with the increase of viscosity	. 79
3.10.	The correlation between $\Delta G^{TOT}$ of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine stomach mucosae with the increase of viscosity	. 80
3.11.	The correlation between $\Delta G^{TOT}$ of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine intestinal mucosae with the increase of viscosity	. 80

3.12.	The mucoadhesive force of combination compacts measured on porcine buccal, sublingual, stomach, and intestinal mucosae	2
3.13.	The correlation between $\Delta G_{PW}$ of combination compacts and their contact angle data of water	5
3.14.	The correlation between $\Delta G_{PS}$ of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine buccal mucosae	6
3.15.	The correlation between $\Delta G_{PS}$ of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine sublingual mucosae	6
3.16.	The correlation between $\Delta G_{PG}$ of combination compacts and force of mucoadhesion measured on porcine stomach mucosae	7
3.17.	The correlation between $\Delta G_{PI}$ of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine intestinal mucosae	7
3.18.	The correlation between $\Delta G^{TOT}$ of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine buccal mucosae	9
3.19.	The correlation between $\Delta G^{TOT}$ of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine sublingual mucosae	0
3.20.	The correlation between $\Delta G^{TOT}$ of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine stomach mucosae	0
3.21.	The correlation between $\Delta G^{TOT}$ of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine intestinal mucosae	1

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

Drug absorption always has a limitation due to the short residence time of drug at the site of absorption [1]. For example, for ocular drug delivery systems, instinctive behaviors such as tear drainage and blinking can wash away the drug rapidly; for oral drug administration, drug and dosage forms are experiencing highly variable residence times at different sites in the gastrointestinal tract. Strategies such as mucoadhesion gained interests due to its ability of prolonging the mucosal residence time of drug delivery systems. In pharmaceutical sciences, mucoadhesion is defined as the state in which a material and mucus or a mucous membrane are held together for extended period of time by interfacial forces [2]. Mucoadhesive drug delivery system can induce high local drug concentration by retaining an intimate contact at the absorption site. Furthermore, the intimate and prolonged contact provides an opportunity of increasing the permeability of drugs including peptides and proteins. In recent years, such delivery system has been developed for oral, buccal, nasal, rectal and vaginal routes for both systematically and locally applications [3].

Mucoadhesion phenomenon has shown many path-breaking advantages, which includes (1) prolonging the residence time of the dosage form, thus enhance the therapeutic efficacy of the drug; (2) abundant blood supply and good blood flow rates which result in rapid absorption of the drug and faster onset of action; (3) bypassing first pass metabolism and thus improving drug bioavailability; (4) avoiding drug degradation in acidic environment of gastrointestinal tract; (5) ease of drug administration; (6) improving patient compliance [4, 5].

The selection of mucoadhesive materials for drug delivery has been of interest for decades owing to its importance of affecting drug absorption and its efficacy. For an ideal

mucoadhesive material, it should adhere rapidly to the desired region of mucous membrane without any physicochemical changes, release the drug without interference, possess biocompatible and biodegradable properties, protect the drug from enzymes degradation, and enhance the penetration of the drug [6]. Numerous mucoadhesive dosage forms are reported, including tablets, films, gels, creams, ointments, viscous solutions, micro- and nanoparticulate suspensions, and sprays [7]. One of the earliest mucoadhesive products that launched into the market is Orahesive®, which is a vehicle that deliver drugs to oral mucosa. This development further lead Orabase® into the clinical trials in 1959, which is a blend of polymethylene/mineral oil base [8]. Till now, many mucoadhesive products have been commercialized, for example, Replens® and Zidoval® gels, which are both for vaginal therapies [7]; Pilogel® and NyoGel® are ocular products [9]; Bunavail® and Zuplenz® are both oral film products [10].

## 1.1. Fundamentals of Mucoadhesion

#### 1.1.1. Mucus Layer and Mucin

An in-depth knowledge about physicochemical properties of mucus layer is required for designing a successful mucoadhesive drug formulation. The presence of a complex mucus barrier lining the mucosal epithelium of tissues is one of the major challenges for mucoadhesive drug delivery systems [11]. Mucus layer cover the mucosal epithelium, with constantly exposure to the surrounding environment across the human body. It acts as a protection barrier against foreign particles, allows the entry and exit of nutrients and wastes, and can be served as a lubricant. While conducting its functions, mucus is continuously produced, secreted, and finally digested, recycled, or discarded [12]. The composition of mucus includes primarily of water (~95%), mucin glycoproteins (~2–5% w/v), lipids, DNA, non-mucin proteins, and cell debris. With its complicated biochemical composition, the mucus forms a dense and viscoelastic gel-like

layer over the epithelial cells which can adsorb a wide range of molecules and particles, including drugs, and other potentially harmful substances such as pathogens, toxins, and pollutants [13].

Mucins are macromolecules with very high molecular weight (10–40 MDa) secreted by epithelial goblet cells and submucosal glands. The primary structure of mucins consists of a high number of repeated proline, serine, and threonine residues ("PTS" protein backbone), with heavily dense of O-linked oligosaccharides (glycans) (Figure 1.1) [14]. N-acetylgalactosamine, N-acetylglucosamine, galactose, sialic acid, and fucose and low amounts of mannose and sulfate are considered as the predominant residues of the oligosaccharide side-chains [15]. Mucins are arranged in a brush-like structure due to these densely grafted glycans [11]. In addition to the glycosylated regions of mucins, the cysteine-rich globular domains (non- glycosylated) are responsible for the assembly of mucins into a 3D network via hydrogen bond interactions, disulfide bridges, and hydrophobic interactions between mucin monomer [16, 17]. High sialic acid (pKa~2.6) and sulfate content (pKa<1) located on the terminal part of the glycoprotein molecules results in a strongly net-negative surface charge [18], thus the mucus exhibits sensitivity to pH and ionic strength similar to anionic polyelectrolytes [19].



*Figure 1.1.* Schematic structure of mucin glycoproteins and their potentially mucoadhesive elements. Adapted from [20].

#### **1.1.2.** Mucus Physicochemical Properties

The permeability of drug and other molecules through mucus can be regulated by certain physicochemical characteristics such as pore size, viscoelasticity, pH, ionic strength and charge [11, 21]. The average mucus pore size was estimated range between 20 to 1800 nm among different organs and diseases [11]. It is reported that small molecules can freely diffuse through mucus, while macromolecules have limited penetration[12]. Furthermore, various studies demonstrated that decreasing particle size can result in increased mobility in the mucus [22, 23]. Thus, it is reasonable to deduce that the permeability of mucus can be limited by the pore size.

The viscoelasticity of mucus produces a balance between fluid-like (viscous) and solidlike (elastic) behaviors to maintain the normal physiological functions [17]. For example, a decrease in viscoelasticity promotes the growth of *Helicobacter pylori* infection in the gastric mucus [24], whereas hyper-viscous mucus is a major pathogenic feature of cystic fibrosis [25]. The pH of mucus shows variety in different organs of body [26]. The fluctuation of pH can alter the exposure of hydrophobic domains of mucins, the net charge of glycosylated domains of mucins, and non-covalent mucin-mucin interactions, and eventually induce the changing of the mucus conformation [21, 27, 28]. The ionic strength of mucus is modulated by epithelial channels and other cellular ion transport mechanisms [11]. It has a close relationship with the hydration state of mucus, and its osmolarity is isotonic in comparison with plasma [29]. A reduction in secreted electrolytes can result in dehydrated mucus as well as an increase in the mucus viscoelasticity [30, 31]. The ionic strength can also regulate the electrostatic interactions between the charged particles and the mucins [21]. In addition to these physicochemical properties, factors such as different body regions, pathological conditions, and individuals can also varying mucus permeability [13].

#### 1.1.3. Mechanisms of Mucoadhesion

It is commonly described that the interaction between mucous membrane and

mucoadhesive material takes place in two stages as shown in Figure 1.2:

- Contact stage: An intimate contact occurs between mucoadhesive material and mucous membrane.
- Consolidation stage: Physicochemical interactions occur to strengthen the adhesive joint, and further result in prolonged mucoadhesion.



Figure 1.2. Scheme of the two-stages mechanism of mucoadhesion. Adapted from [32].

**1.1.3.1. Contact stage.** Contact stage is the initial step to form mucoadhesion, which is the intimate contact between mucoadhesive and mucous membrane. For oral region, corneal or vagina mucosa, the surface of mucoadhesive and mucous membrane can be physically brought together. In the nasal cavity or bronchi of the respiratory tract, the deposition of particles occurs by the inertial impaction process due to the aerodynamics of the anatomical site. However, the contact process has some difficulties in the gastrointestinal region (except oral and rectum). The adhesive material cannot be placed stably onto the target mucosal surface because of the gastrointestinal motility. Therefore, it is possible for uncontrollable and undesirable adhesion at unwanted locations to happen in such region [33].

When a mucoadhesive particle contact with a certain surface, two opposing forces may occur: attractive force and repulsive force. The attractive forces originate from van der Waal forces, surface energy effects and electrostatic interactions (if the surface and mucoadhesive particles possess opposite charges); while the repulsive forces also may include electrostatic interactions (if the surface and particles possess same charges). Other factors like osmotic pressure effects and steric effects can also affect the mucoadhesive process. The intrinsic property of the mucoadhesive particles, ambient environment and the distance between the particle and surface can lead to the net effect of these opposing forces. This contact process will be more complicated since mucus is gel layer instead of a simple solid. Thus, the mucoadhesive particle will be facing many challenges, such as overcoming the unstirred water layer adjacent to the surface or its physicochemical properties changes due to moisture and/or wrapped with biochemical molecules [33].

**1.1.3.2.** Consolidation stage. Consolidation stage is a very important process to combat the adhesive failure of the formulations to achieve stronger and prolonged mucoadhesion. There are two theories that are could explain this process. One of the theories is called diffusion theory, which indicates the mucoadhesive macromolecules will be relaxed by the presence of moisture and further interpenetrate with mucin glycoproteins by secondary interactions (predominantly van der Waal forces and hydrogen bonding). The other theory is dehydration theory, which states that after placing on a piece of mucous membrane, the mucoadhesive will rapidly dehydrate the mucus gel and consolidate the mucus joint until the equilibrium is reached.

The latter theory explains the quick nature of mucoadhesion, while the first theory requires the movement of macromolecules, which is a relatively slower process. However,

dehydration theory can only be suitable for dry or partially hydrated materials that are in contact with a sufficient amount of mucus gel and cannot be adapted to hydrated materials.

#### **1.2.** Theories of Mucoadhesion

Mucoadhesion is a complex process and six general theories have been proposed to explain this mechanism [34]. Due to the complexity of mucoadhesion, it is unlikely that a single theory could explain the mechanism completely.

#### **1.2.1.** Wetting Theory

The wetting theory is generally applied to mucoadhesive systems in the form of liquid or with low viscosity. It is associated with surface energy and interfacial energy between mucoadhesive and the biological substrate. It can be described as the ability of a liquid spreads out on a surface. Contact angle measurement is commonly used to evaluate the affinity between a liquid and a surface. Lower contact angle results in better affinity, thus the closer the contact angle to zero, the liquid flows and covers up more surface area and the maximum attractive forces can be achieved (Figure 1.4). The spreading coefficient can be defined by the surface energy parameters of liquid and solid as shown in the equation below [5]:

$$S_{AB} = \gamma_B - \gamma_A - \gamma_{AB} \tag{1.1}$$

Where  $\gamma_A$  is the surface tension (energy) of the liquid A,  $\gamma_B$  is the surface energy of the solid B and  $\gamma_{AB}$  is the interfacial energy between the solid and liquid.  $S_{AB}$  is required to be positive for the liquid to spread over the solid spontaneously.

When two unlike phases A and B are brought together reversibly, the work of adhesion  $(W_A)$  exists, which refers to the energy required to separate two phases and is given by:

$$W_A = \gamma_A + \gamma_B - \gamma_{AB} \tag{1.2}$$

The greater the individual surface energies of the solid and liquid relative to the interfacial energy, the greater the work of adhesion [35].



*Figure 1.3.* The relationship between the contact angle formed by the polymeric surface with the mucosal interface and the strength of adhesion. Adapted from [36].

## **1.2.2. Diffusion Theory**

The diffusion theory describes the interdiffusion or interpenetration between mucoadhesive polymer chains and mucin glycoprotein chains with a sufficient depth to create a semi-permanent adhesive bond as depicted in Figure 1.4 [33]. A better mutual solubility between the mucoadhesive and the mucus results in stronger mucoadhesive bond [3]. The driving force for such a process is concentration gradient, the depth of interpenetration is dependent upon the time of contact and diffusion coefficients of both interacting substances. Many factors are involved in the diffusion process, the basic properties that will cause significant influences are molecular weight, cross-linking density, chain mobility/flexibility, expansion capacity of both networks and environmental-related factors [5]. It is documented that the depth of interdiffusion is required to reach  $0.2-0.5 \mu m$  to generate an effective adhesive bond [3]. Another study showed that the polymer needs to have a critical chain length of at least 100 kDa to form sufficient interpenetration and molecular entanglement [5]. The depth of interpenetration (L) between mucoadhesive polymer and mucin chains can be estimated by the following equation:

$$L = (tD_b)^{1/2} (1.3)$$

Where *t* is the contact time;  $D_b$  is the diffusion coefficient of the mucoadhesive material in the mucus [3, 4].

## **1.2.3. Electronic Theory**

This theory is based on the electronic differences between the structures. Mucous membrane is negatively charged due to the structure of mucin. Therefore, when the polymeric system and mucous membrane possess opposite electrical charges, and they come into contact, they will form an electronic bilayer at the interface, and the attractive forces between them will be enhanced (Figure 1.5) [5, 33].



*Figure 1.4.* Diffusion interlocking model for the mucoadhesion of polymers. Adapted from [36].



Figure 1.5. An electronic model of mucoadhesion. Adapted from [32].

#### **1.2.4.** Adsorption Theory

After an initial contact between two surfaces, the net result of primary or secondary forces give rise to the adhesion. The primary force of chemisorption provides a strong interaction across the interface resulting in ionic, covalent, or metallic bonding. Secondary forces are considered as the main contributors to mucoadhesive interaction, which mainly consist of van der Waals forces, hydrogen bonding, and hydrophobic effect [3].

## **1.2.5.** Mechanical Theory

Mechanical theory proposes that an interlocked structure occurs by the penetration of adhesives into pores, cavities, and other surface irregularities on a rough surface thereby resulting in mucoadhesion [4].

#### **1.2.6.** Fracture Theory

The fracture theory examines the force involved in the separation of two adhered surfaces. This theory is commonly used in the evaluation of the mucoadhesion capacity in *in vitro* experiments. Theoretically, it assumes the fracture occurs at the interface between mucoadhesive and mucus. However, adhesive failure normally occurs at the weakest component, it is typical for the fracture to occur at one of the adhering surfaces, which is considered as a cohesive failure [35].

#### **1.3.** Factors Influencing Mucoadhesion

Generally, there are three factors influencing mucoadhesive performance, which include polymeric factor, environmental factor, and physiological factor [34].

## **1.3.1.** Polymeric Factors

**1.3.1.1. Molecular weight.** It is understood that for a given polymer, an increase in molecular weight will lead to better mucoadhesive properties, it is also commonly accept that polymers with molecular mass  $\geq 100$  kDa have been found to have satisfied mucoadhesive performance in biomedical applications [3, 4, 36-38]. Interpenetration of polymer chains into mucus is more critical for low molecular weight polymers, while entanglement is more favored for high molecular weight polymers [34, 38, 39].

**1.3.1.2. Hydrogen bonding capacity.** Hydrogen bonding is one of the most crucial interactions that contributes to mucoadhesion. Polymers with hydrophilic function groups, such as hydroxyl or carboxyl groups, can induce hydrogen bonding between polymer and mucous membrane. The degree of hydrogen bonding depends on the structure of the polymer. The flexibility of the polymer is an important factor to improve the potential of hydrogen bonding by exposing more function groups to the mucous membrane [3, 34].

**1.3.1.3. Hydration.** Hydration is prerequisite for the expansion of mucoadhesive polymer and create mobility for the polymer chains to enhance the interpenetration between polymer and mucins. The swelling of polymer can improve the potential mucoadhesive performance by exposing more mucoadhesive sites for hydrogen bonding and/or electrostatic interaction between polymer and mucous membrane. However, the degree of hydration is required to be restricted due to excess hydration may cause adhesion failure and a slippery mucilage will form instead [3].

**1.3.1.4. Degree of crosslinking.** The density of crosslinking is inversely proportional to the degree of swelling [36]. With the increasing of crosslink density, the flexibility of the polymer chain will reduce, decreasing the swelling capacity of the polymer, limiting the interpenetration as well as entanglement, thus it will further cause weaker adhesion. However, a lightly crosslinked polymer is favored with sufficient hydration rate and flexibility which will facilitate its swelling degree [34].

**1.3.1.5. Flexibility.** In the consolidation stage, the diffusion of polymer chains into the interface region is critical. Therefore, it is important for polymer chains to contain sufficient flexibility to achieve the desirable entanglement and interpenetration with the mucus network. More structural flexibility of the polymer can lead to more exposure of the functional groups, which facilitate the formation of adhesive joint. Flexibility or mobility of the polymer chains is related to the viscosity, degree of crosslinking, hydration, and diffusion coefficient [5].

**1.3.1.6.** Charge. Anionic polymers exhibit excellent mucoadhesive properties owing to the formation of strong hydrogen bonding with mucus network. These polymers contain a great number of hydroxyls, carboxyl, and sulphate functional groups, inducing negative charges when the aqueous environment pH value is higher than its pKa value [40]. Chitosan is the one of the most studied cationic polymers with demonstrated superior mucoadhesive performance. As the pKa value of the amino groups on chitosan is around 6.5, it behaves as a polyelectrolyte with positive charge density at acidic and neutral pH [41]. Non-ionic polymers are also commonly used in the pharmaceutical formulations; however, they possess weaker mucoadhesive property in relative to polymers that carry charges.

**1.3.1.7. Spatial conformation.** The spatial conformation is required to take into consideration as some conformations may result in hindering the functional groups which are

responsible to form mucoadhesive bonds. Both helical structured polymer with high molecular weight and linear structured polymer with relatively lower molecule weight may produce similar mucoadhesive effect [42].

### **1.3.2.** Environmental Factors

**1.3.2.1. Applied strength and contact time**. Either an increase of external applied strength or an extension of initial contact time can result in promoting mucoadhesive strength as well as the duration of mucoadhesion. If given a massive amount of applied strength for a long period of time, the polymer become mucoadhesive even if they do not have any attractive interactions with mucous membrane. The extension of initial contact time can lead to sufficient degree of swelling and increase the interpenetration depth between polymer chains and mucin chains [43].

**1.3.2.2. pH.** For anionic and cationic polymers, their mucoadhesive properties are relied on the functional groups which are ionized with charge distribution on polymer chains. The pH of the external environment determines the ionization of the functional groups. The charge density on the mucous membrane can be affected by the pH of the ambient environment. It can influence the dissociation of functional groups on mucin glycoprotein backbone [3].

#### **1.3.3.** Physiological Factors

**1.3.3.1. Mucin turnover.** The turnover of mucin molecules is a nature physiological clearance mechanism which can cause limitation of residence time for the mucoadhesive materials to stay on the mucous membrane. The detachment between mucoadhesive material and the surface will happen due to mucus turnover regardless of how strong the mucoadhesive strength. The mucin turnover varies in different physiological sites and in different individuals with a time range from few minutes to several hours [44, 45].

**1.3.3.2. Disease state.** The disease conditions will change the physicochemical properties of the mucous membrane, such as common cold, gastric ulcers, ulcerative colitis, cystic fibrosis, bacterial and fungal infections or inflammation. If the initial purpose of the mucoadhesive formulation is to apply on disease conditions, then the mucoadhesive property needs to be evaluated under the same conditions [45].

#### **1.4. Mucoadhesive Polymers**

In the development of mucoadhesive drug delivery system, a mucoadhesion promoting agent or polymer plays a significant role in the formulation due to its ability of increasing the residence time of the active pharmaceutical ingredient on a desired location. Polymers used in such system can be classified into many different categories based on the chosen criteria (Table 1.1). Brief details of some typical first or second generation mucoadhesive polymers are discussed in the following sections.

#### 1.4.1. First-generation Mucoadhesive Polymers

The first-generation polymers are also known as traditional or non-specific polymers. Based on their carried charges, they can further be divided into three subsets: non-ionic polymers, anionic polymers, and cationic polymers [46].

**1.4.1.1. Non-ionic polymer.** Compare to the other two subsets, non-ionic polymers typically have weaker mucoadhesive properties. Polymers such as HPMC, MC, poloxamer, poly PVA and PVP are belong to this subset [5].

**1.4.1.2. Anionic polymer.** Anionic polymers are the most widely applied mucoadhesive polymers in pharmaceuticals due to their great mucoadhesive performance and minimum toxicity. As mentioned previously, these polymers contain a large number of hydroxyls, carboxyl and sulphate functional groups which lead to an overall negative charge at pH values

Property used for classification	Categories	Examples
Generations	First-generation	Carbomer, polycarbophil, pectin, sodium alginate, Na CMC, CMC, Hydroxy ethylated starch, HPC, HPMC, PEG, PVA, PVP, Chitosan
	Second- generation	Lectins, bacterial invasins, thiolated polymers
	Natural and modified natural polymers	Agarose, chitosan, gelatin, hyaluronic acid, carrageenan, pectin, sodium alginate
	F J	<i>Cellulose derivatives</i> CMC, thiolated CMC, NaCMC, HEC, HPC, HPMC, MC, MHEC
Sources	Synthetic	Polymers based on poly(meth)acrylic acid Carbomer, polycarbophil, polyacrylic acid, polyacrylates, copolymer of acrylic acid and PEG, copolymer of methyl vinyl ether and methacrylic acid
		<i>Others</i> Poly-N-2-hydroxypropylmethacrylamide, polyhydroxy ethylene, PVA, PVP, thiolated polymers
		<i>Cellulose derivatives</i> CMC, thiolated CMC, NaCMC, HEC, HPC, HPMC, MC, MHEC
Aqueous solubility	Water soluble	Polymers based on poly(meth)acrylic acid Carbomer, polycarbophil, polyacrylic acid, polyacrylates, copolymer of acrylic acid and PEG, copolymer of methyl vinyl ether and methacrylic acid
		<i>Others</i> Poly-N-2-hydroxypropylmethacrylamide, polyhydroxy ethylene, PVA, PVP, thiolated polymers
	Water insoluble	EC, polycarbophil

Table 1.1Classification of Mucoadhesive Polymers [47]

	Anionic	Carbomer, polycarbophil, pectin, sodium alginate, Na CMC, CMC
Charge	Cationic	Amino dextran, dimethylaminoethyldextran, chitosan
	Non-ionic	Hydroxy ethylated starch, HPC, HPMC, PEG, PVA, PVP
Possible	Covalent	Cyanoacrylate
mechanism of formation of bioadhesive	Hydrogen bonds	Acrylates, carbomer, polycarbophil, PVA
bonds	Electrostatic interactions	Chitosan

DollasElectrostatic<br/>interactionsChitosanNotes. Classification of polymers in examples are in italics.CMC = carboxymethylcellulose; HPMC = hydroxypropyl methylcellulose; PEG = polyethylene<br/>glycol; PVA = polyvinyl alcohol; PVP = polyvinylpyrrolidone; HEC = hydroxyethyl cellulose;<br/>HPC = hydroxypropyl cellulose; MC = methylcellulose; MHEC = methyl hydroxyethyl

cellulose; PAA = polyacrylic acid.

(Table 1.1 Continued)

greater than the pKa of the polymer. Due to the negativity of the mucous membrane, a result of electrostatic repulsion will occur between the polymer and mucin, and further cause the uncoiling of polymer chains. This uncoiling process can improve the mechanical entanglement and interaction between polymer chains and the mucin glycoprotein [34]. Polymers with these functional groups can form strong hydrogen bonds with mucus network, so that they can exhibit outstanding mucoadhesive property. Typical examples of these polymers include PAA and its crosslinked derivatives, and NaCMC [5, 48].

Both polycarbophil and carbomer are PAA derivatives which have been studied widely as mucoadhesive platforms for drug delivery. Both compounds have the same acrylic backbone, the polycarbophil polymer is cross-linked with divinyl glycol, while the carbomer is cross-linked with allyl sucrose or allyl pentaerythritol. Polycarbophil has a very high swelling capacity under neutral pH conditions, which allows greater interpenetration and entanglement within the mucous membrane [48]. Carbomer has a unique pH-triggered gelation behavior aside from its excellent mucoadhesive property, which gives a great opportunity of formulating into in-situ gelling dosage forms [49].

1.4.1.3. Cationic polymer. Among all the cationic polymers, chitosan is one of the most studied and abundantly used polymer in the pharmaceutical studies. Chitosan is considered as renewable, sustainable and affordable product, it is also a non-toxic material with great biocompatibility and biodegradability [50]. The primary amino groups on the structure of chitosan can bind with the sialic acid and sulphonic acid of mucin via ionic interactions. Additionally, the presence of hydroxyl and amino groups can interact with mucous membrane via hydrogen bonding. At acid environment (pH<6), the primary amino groups become protonated, and give rise to a net positive charge which can interact with negatively charged mucins by providing a strong electrostatic interaction. Aside from its mucoadhesive property, it also has film forming ability, antibacterial activity and wound healing properties, and is able to bind lipids and fatty acids due to its physicochemical and biological properties [38]. However, the water solubility of chitosan and its mucoadhesive performance is limited at neutral and alkaline pH values. Therefore, the chemical modifications of chitosan such as trimethyl chitosan, thiolated chitosan and others, are extensively studied [51].

#### 1.4.2. Novel Second-generation Muco/bioadhesive Polymers

Due to the uncontrollable and targetless drawbacks of traditional first-generation mucoadhesive, scientists developed the second-generation muco/bioadhesive polymers. Other than mucous membrane, the second-generation mucoadhesive aims at a more accurate domain such as the residues on the cell membrane, followed by an invasive mechanism accessing into the cell.

**1.4.2.1.** Lectins. Lectins can conduct an interaction of adhering to the cell surfaces, such process can also be referred as "cytoadhesion" [52]. Lectins are naturally occurring carbohydrate-binding proteins that bind reversibly with sugar groups of other molecules such as polysaccharides, glycoproteins, or glycolipids. Lectins play a fundamental role in biological recognition on both cellular and molecular level [53]. After initial mucosal cell-binding, lectins can remain on the cellular surface or conduct receptor mediate adhesion, and further go through an internalization process [54]. Such process can provide dual functions including target specific attachment and conduct controlled drug delivery of macromolecular pharmaceuticals via active cell-mediated drug uptake [4]. Lectins will partially suffer from detachment by shed off mucus, however, due to the reversible interaction between lectins and mucins, this detachment can facilitate the distribution of lectins to free lectin receptors on the cell membrane. Once the lectins are bind to the membrane, internalization will immediately occur which makes the free lectin binding site available again [55]. These features can promote the intercellular uptake of drugs from lectins-based formulations. Although lectins have many advantages related to mucoadhesion, some of them have problems such as toxic, immunogenic, and unknow effects from repeated exposure [56].

**1.4.2.2. Bacterial invasins.** A typical feature of pathogens is the ability of invading and translocating through the epithelial barrier. In bioadhesion systems, this process can also be referred as the term "bioinvasion". Bacterial invasion into cells is a crucial process of avoiding an attack of the host immune system and initiating transcytosis and multiplication in a suitable environment, which results in the establishment and maintenance of infection [57]. Pathogenic

bacteria can adhere to the cell surfaces in gastrointestinal tract with the help of their fimbriae, which are long protein with adhesins found on the surface of many bacterial strains. *Yersinia enterocolitica* and *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* are enteropathogens which can reach to the lamina propria from the intestinal lumen by means of entering and passing through intestinal epithelial cells and cause a variety of diseases. Utilizing their unique features, a study has reported on the surface functionalization of liposomes with an invasion protein (InvA497) derived from *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* as a promising strategy for intracellular drug delivery [58]. The invasive of *Yersiniu* as well as other types of invasins established new approaches for the development of bioinvasive drug delivery systems [59]. Therefore, drug delivery systems based on the special characteristics of bacterial are theoretically efficient to enhance the adhesion and delivery of the drugs.

**1.4.2.3.** Thiomers. Thiolation opens a new era for mucoadhesive polymers which may enhance the mucoadhesive property for both natural and synthetic polymers. A large variety of polymers have been thiolated such as PAA [60], chitosan [61], CMC [62], xyloglucan [63], and hyaluronic acid [64]. Thiomers or thiolated polymers can be achieved by fix thiol-bearing functional groups on the backbone of well-established polymers [49, 65]. The thiol groups can form strong covalent disulfide bonds with cystine-rich regions of mucous membrane, which can significantly improve the mucoadhesive properties especially in comparison with traditional mucoadhesive materials. Such mechanism of thiomers mimics the nature of secreted mucus glycoproteins, which are also covalently anchored in the mucous membrane by the formation of disulfide bonds [65]. The degree of crosslinking is associated with inter and intra disulfide bond formation, which is controllable by altering the amount of free thiol moieties [66]. Moreover,

thiomers can significantly improve permeability, inhibit efflux pumping, and act as a protection especially for peptides and proteins from enzymatic attack [67, 68].

## 1.4.3. HPMC

HPMC is a traditional pharmaceutical excipient with an irreplaceable role in the development of pharmaceutical technologies. It plays a key role in mucoadhesive drug delivery systems with massive therapeutic applications. It is not only extensively used as mucoadhesive polymer but also widely exploited in controlled release matrix systems. HPMC belongs to the category of semisynthetic derivative of cellulose, with favorable non-toxic and hydrophilic property. The structure of HPMC consists a basis of a linear polysaccharide cellulose chain with ether-linked methoxy and hydroxypropyl side groups (Figure 1.6) [69]. By altering its chemical structure (substitution degrees and ratios), numerous viscosity grades and molecular weights are available in the market which offer a great variability in its physicochemical properties [70]. Moreover, the swelling and wetting ability of HPMC are important factors affecting the mucoadhesive strength and duration of the interaction.



R = -H,  $-CH_3$  or  $-(OCH_2CHCH_3)OH$ 

Figure 1.6. Chemical structure of HPMC.
HPMC type, other excipients	Drug	Dosage form	References
HPMC K4M, CP 934P, NaCMC	Felodipine, pioglitazone		[72]
	Diltiazem hydrochloride		[73]
HPMC K4M, CP 934P	Itraconazole		[74]
	Piroxicam		[75]
HPMC K4M/K15M, CP 974P	Sumatriptan succinate	Tablet	[76]
HPMC K4M, CP 974P	Clotrimazole		[77]
HPMC K4M, CP 934P, sodium alginate	Prochlorperazine		[78]
HPMC K15M, CP 940P, NaCMC, sodium alginate	Promethazine hydrochloride		[79]
HPMC K15M, CP 934P, NaCMC	Candesartan		[80]
HPMC K4M, CP 934P (NaHCO3, citric acid)	Venlafaxine hydrochloride	Floating tablet	[81]
HPMC K4M/K100M, PVP K30	Losartan sodium		[82]
HPMC, PVA, NaCMC	Flurbiprofen		[83]
HPMC K4M/K15M, CP 940P, poloxamer 407	Lidocaine	Patch	[84]
HPMC K4M, K15M/ PVP K30/NaCMC	Acyclovir		[85]
HPMC E4M/Eudragit® RLPO, PVP, MC, HPC, chitosan	Naproxen		[86]

 Table 1.2

 Recent Development of HPMC-Based Formulations (Adapted from [71])

HPMC, Eudragit® RS 100	Didanosine		[87]
HPMC K4M, PVA	Ciprofloxacin hydrochloride		[88]
HPMC K100, PVP	Mefenamic acid		[89]
HPMC K4M, PVA, PEO	Rizatriptan benzoate	Film	[90]
HPMC K15M, K100M, CP 940	K15M, K100M, CP 940 Ivabradine hydrochloride		[91]
HPMC E15, CP 934P, PVP K30	Lycopene		[92]
HPMC E50, CMC, MC, CP 934, sodium alginate	Indomethacin	Microcapsule	[93]
HPMC K100, PLA, PEO	Cisplatin		[94]
HPMC K4M, E4M, sodium alginate, chitosan, k-carrageenan	Glutamine	Nanofiber	[95]
HPMC K100M, PLGA	Sitagliptin	Nanoparticle	[96]

*Note.* CMC = carboxymethylcellulose; PVP = polyvinylpyrrolidone; PVA = polyvinyl alcohol; MC=methylcellulose; HPC = hydroxypropyl cellulose; PEO= poly (ethylene oxide); PLA= polylactic acid; PLGA= poly (lactic-co-glycolic acid).

The mucoadhesion mechanism of HPMC polymer includes the formation of hydrogen bonds from massive hydroxyl groups in its structure and interpenetration of polymer chains with mucins. Belonging to the subset of non-ionic polymers, it is beneficial to avoid the risk of drug interactions and normally has great reproducibility in drug release profiles, as it cannot be significantly influenced by the pH of the environment [71, 97]. Excellent compatibility with other excipients results in many possible applications of HPMC. As a mucoadhesive excipient, mucosae of oral cavity and the whole gastrointestinal tract are the important sites for HPMC- based systems to exert their excellent mucoadhesive properties [3, 98, 99]. Modern mucoadhesive formulations utilizing HPMC, including tablets, films/patches, nanoparticles, microparticles and nanofibers. Examples of formulations in recent development exploiting the combination of HPMC and other polymers are listed in Table 1.2.

In this study, HPMC was selected as a model polymer due to its mucoadhesive property, extensively application in the pharmaceutical field, non-ionic and inert property, biocompatibility and biodegradability, and the availability of a variety of grades.

#### **1.5. Research Objectives**

Different mucoadhesives and the composition of mucous membrane have significant impact on the mucoadhesive performance and its underlying mechanisms. In this study seven different grades of HPMC (K3, K5, K15M, E3, E5, E50, and E4M) are selected as the mucoadhesives to evaluate their influence on different biological membranes. The first objective of this research is to investigate the roles of physicochemical properties of the selected mucoadhesive polymers, including viscosity, surface hydrophilicity and hydration behavior on *in vitro* mucoadhesive performance using buccal, sublingual, stomach, and intestine mucosa of pigs. The purpose is to understand the factors that impact of the mucoadhesive characteristics of HPMC series products.

In order to gain a better understanding of mucoadhesion mechanisms, the theory of Lewis acid-base approach is applied to estimate the surface energy and free energy of adhesion of HPMC compacts in different conditions. So, the second objective of this study to apply the Lewis acid-base theory to explain mucoadhesion.

The third objective of this study is to further inspect the effect of change of surface hydrophilicity on *in vitro* mucoadhesion performance. For the purpose of altering the surface

hydrophilicity, EC is selected as an additive to change surface hydrophilicity and HPMC grade K15M as a testing material.

# CHAPTER 2: THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN PROPERTIES OF HPMC AND *IN VITRO* MUCOADHESION

## 2.1. Introduction

Mucoadhesion can be described as the adhesion between polymeric material and a biological mucosal surface. The success of mucoadhesion depends on the retention of the mucoadhesive polymeric material on the mucous membrane [100]. Thus, the property of the chosen material as well as the biochemical properties of the mucous membrane from different body regions play important roles on mucoadhesive performance.

The three major factors that impact on mucoadhesion are environment, physiological condition, and mucoadhesive material. The influence of these factors on mucoadhesion have been described in section 1.3. From the formulation point of view, the nature of the polymer material presents in the formulation is an important factor for mucoadhesion. Therefore, the selected physicochemical properties of polymer such as molecular weight (viscosity), surface hydrophilicity, and hydration behavior have been investigated in this study.

Mucoadhesive performance can be characterized by testing the adhesion strength by *in vitro* and *in vivo* tests. The most employed *in vitro* tests are tensile strength test, shear strength test, peel strength test, *in vitro* retention time, and rheological methods [5]. Texture analyzer is a convenient instrument to characterize the tensile strength between mucoadhesive polymer and certain surface of substrate. In this method, the mucoadhesion was evaluated by measuring the maximum force required to separate the polymer away from the surface of substrate after contact at pre-determined time and force. The work of adhesion can be achieved from specific computation. Currently there is not a single universally accepted parameter for mucoadhesion

test using texture analyzer. The test parameter (e.g. contact time, contact pressure, test speed, and test environment) for texture analysis vary in different published studies [101-103]. Thus, it would be complicated to compare the result of mucoadhesion test from different experimental conditions [104]. But it is still widely used for its simple operation and relative comparability. Several model substrates can be selected while using texture analyzer, such as mucin disc, mucin gel, porcine tissue, chicken pouch tissue, and bovine mucosa etc. The anatomical and physiological similarity of pig to human have been evaluated for decades by scientists, and pig is a large animal with substantial mucous membrane [105-107], thus it is chosen in this study.

In this chapter, the impact of viscosity, surface hydrophilicity, and hydration behavior of different grades of HPMC compacts and the lipid composition of mucous membranes on *in vitro* mucoadhesion were investigated. Texture analyzer was used to measure the force of mucoadhesion, and porcine mucosae were selected as the substrates.

### 2.2. Materials and Methods

## 2.2.1. Materials

HPMC (K3, E3, E5, K4M, E4M, and K15M) were purchased from Dow Company. HPMC E50 was purchased from Spectrum Chemical. The properties of different HPMC grades are listed in Table 2.1. Sodium chloride and sodium hydroxide was purchased from VWR. Potassium chloride was purchased from Mallinckrodt Chemicals. Disodium phosphate, monopotassium phosphate, potassium phosphate monobasic and sodium phosphate dibasic was purchased from Spectrum Chemical. Sodium taurocholate was purchased from EMD Millipore. Lecithin was purchased from MP Biomedicals. Maleic acid was purchased from EMD Millipore. Table 2.2-Table 2.4 listed the composition of simulated saliva (SS), fasted state simulated gastric fluid (FaSSGF), and fasted state simulated intestinal fluid (FaSSIF). Porcine

Grade	HPMC	Average viscosity (mPa·s 2% in water at 20°C)	Methoxy substitution (%)	Hydroxypropyl substitution (%)	
	K3 LV	3			
K K4M K15M	K4M	4,000	19.0-24.0		
	K15M	15,000			
	E3 LV	3		7.0-12.0	
E E E5	E5 LV	5	28.0.20.0		
	E50 LV	50	28.0-30.0		
	E4M	4,000			

Table 2.1 Properties of Different HPMC Grades [108]

*Note.* "LV" refers to low viscosity.

# Table 2.2

Composition of Simulated Saliva (SS) [109]

Composition		
Sodium chloride (g/L)	8.00	
Potassium phosphate monobasic (g/L)	0.19	
Sodium phosphate dibasic (g/L)	2.38	

Note. Adjust pH to 6.8 with phosphoric acid.

Table 2.3

Composition of Fasted State Simulated Gastric Fluid (FaSSGF) [109]

Composition	
Sodium taurocholate (µM)	80
Lecithin (µM)	20
Pepsin (mg/mL)	0.1
Sodium chloride (mM)	34.2

*Note.* Adjust pH to 1.6 with hydrochloric acid/sodium hydroxide.

 Composition of Fasted State Simulated Intestinal Fluid (FaSSIF) [109]

*Note*. Adjust pH to 6.5 with hydrochloric acid.

buccal, sublingual, and intestinal tissues were obtained from a local slaughterhouse (Long Ranch, Manteca, CA). Porcine stomach tissue was purchased from Animal Technologies, Inc.

# 2.2.2. Preparation of Polymer Compacts

Polymer compacts were prepared using a Carver Press (Carver, Inc., Wabash, IN) with a 10 mm diameter punch and die set. The applied loads were kept constant at 5 metric tons, pressed for 30 sec and ejected from the die. The resulting compacts had an average weight of  $500 \pm 5$  mg. The polymer compacts were stored in a desiccator until further use.

# 2.2.3. Contact Angle Measurement

The apparent contact angle was measured by sessile drop method with a goniometer (Model G-I, Kernco Instruments Co., Inc., El Paso, TX). The apparent contact angles were measured by applying an aliquot (5  $\mu$ l) of simulated body fluids (SS, FaSSGF, FaSSIF) on the surface of polymer compacts.

# 2.2.4. Mucosae Preparation

Porcine buccal and sublingual mucosae were isolated after the removal of fatty layers by surgical scissors, then cleaned with phosphate buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4) containing 137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> and 1.8 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>. Porcine mucosae were rinsed by

PBS to remove the particles. All mucosae were rapidly frozen to  $-80^{\circ}$ C for storage and thawed at the time of use at ambient temperature.

#### 2.2.5. Force of Mucoadhesion Measurement

Mucoadhesion testing of the polymer compacts was carried out using a CT3 texture analyzer (Brookfield Engineering Labs, Inc., Middleboro, MA). The polymer compact was attached to the cylindrical probe (10 mm in diameter) by double-sided adhesive tape. The compact was pre-hydrated in normal saline for 0 and 5 minutes before conducting the experiment. The mucosa (about 60 × 60 mm) was equilibrated in the test medium for 15 min before clamped on to the stationary platform. The probe was lowered at a speed of 1.00 mm/s to contact the mucosa with force of 1 g and with contact time 60 s. It was removed at the speed of 4.50 mm/s. Data collection and calculations were performed using TexturePro CT V1.8 Build 13 software. The areas under the load vs. distance curves (AUC in mJ) were determined to represent the maximum force required for detachment of the two systems (mucous membrane/polymer compacts), the data was recorded as force of mucoadhesion. Experiments were run in sextuplicate under room temperature and for each set of measurements a fresh piece of mucosa was used.

#### 2.2.6. Hydration Study

The polymer compacts of 10 mm in diameter were prepared and placed in 20 mL beaker containing 10 mL normal saline as the swelling medium. The temperature was maintained at  $37\pm1^{\circ}$ C using a water bath. The weight of the compacts was measured and recorded after predetermined time intervals. The hydration (*H*) was calculated by using the following formula:

$$H = \frac{W_{Hydrated} - W_{Dry}}{W_{Dry}} \times 100\%$$
(2.1)

Where  $W_{Dry}$  and  $W_{Hydrated}$  are the weight of polymer compacts before and after hydration, respectively.

#### 2.3. Results and Discussion

## 2.3.1. The Relationship between Contact Angle and Viscosity

The apparent contact angles were measured according to section 2.2.3. Contact angle is a common parameter that describes the hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity of a solid surface and provides the information about the wettability of a surface of interest. Wetting is associated with the study of how a liquid spread out on a solid substrate or the formation of boundary surfaces between liquid and solid states. The solid surface with water contact angle less than 90° indicates that the surface is hydrophilic or has better wettability, whereas a solid surface with water contact angle larger than 90° is considered as hydrophobic or non-wettable [110, 111]. Contact angle has different metastable states, which can also be referred as the term hysteresis phenomenon. Such phenomenon has two components: thermodynamic and dynamic. The first one is affected by the roughness and heterogeneity of the surface [112], while the second one depend on time, chemical interaction of liquid-material, penetration of the measuring liquid into the pores, particle reorganization on the surface [113-115]. In this study, the measurement of apparent contact angle was conducted instantaneously after placing the liquid on the compact surface to minimize the dynamic component of hysteresis.

The contact angle values of HPMC compacts were in the range of 50° to 80°, which indicated the surface HPMC compacts are hydrophilic in nature. In Figure 2.1, a strong correlation has been found between contact angle and viscosity, an increase in the viscosity of HPMC (molecular weight) resulted in higher contact angle values. This correlation implied that contact angle is related to the degree of polymerization of HPMC. For two types of polymers almost having the same viscosity value but different grades, the "E" grade exhibited slightly higher contact angle values than the "K" grade. Although they both have same range of



*Figure 2.1.* The correlation between different viscosity grades of HPMC and contact angle measured with various body fluid (SS, FaSSGF, FaSSIF) on dry compacts. (n=6)

substitute ratio of hydroxypropyl ( $-OCH_2CHOHCH_3$ ) groups (in the range of 7.0% to 12.0%), "E" grade has 28.0% to 30.0% of methoxy ( $-OCH_3$ ) groups while "K" grade has 19.0% to 24.0% of methoxy groups. The concentration of methoxy group is directly related to the viscosity/inflexibility of HPMC. Higher concentration of methoxy group results in a more viscous or less flexible state. Therefore, more percentages of methoxy groups in "E" grade might resulted in an increase in the viscosity, thus further lead to marginally higher contact angle values.

In addition, as studied by Joshi et al., the increasing viscosity of HPMC can lead to a reduction in the porosity of the tablet/compact, which indicates a decrease in the surface roughness [116]. As mentioned previously, surface roughness is a considerable factor affecting the outcome of contact angle. Wenzel [117] stated that adding surface roughness will enhance

the wettability caused by the chemistry of the surface. For example, for a given contact angle less than 90°, increase surface roughness of the same solid material will result in a smaller contact angle; whereas, if a liquid forms a contact angle of greater than 90° on a smooth solid, increase surface roughness of the same solid material will result in a larger contact angle [118]. In this study, the contact angle values of compacts were all below 90°, thus the HPMC compacts with smaller viscosity might possess a rougher surface with increased porosity, and further give rise to smaller contact angle values.

Different simulated body fluids have different pH values: the pH value of FaSSGF is 1.6, the pH value of FaSSIF is 6.5, and the pH value of SS is 6.8. While measuring with these three different types of simulated body fluids, no significant difference in contact angle values was shown in each individual grade. This phenomenon reflected the insensitivity of HPMC to the pH alteration, which is beneficial for its application in a variety of physiological environment. Such characteristic attributed to the non-ionic feature of HPMC.

## **2.3.2.** The Relationship between Contact Angle and Force of Mucoadhesion

Force of mucoadhesion was measured as described in section 2.2.5. Four different types of porcine mucosae were selected as the model substrates: buccal, sublingual, stomach, and intestinal mucosa. The measured force of mucoadhesion between the compacts and (1) buccal mucosae were in the range of 0.63 mJ to 2.53 mJ; (2) sublingual mucosae were in the range of 0.63 mJ to 2.53 mJ; (2) sublingual mucosae were in the range of 0.63 mJ to 2.53 mJ; (2) sublingual mucosae were in the range of 0.60 mJ to 2.61 mJ; (3) stomach mucosae were ranged from 0.89 mJ to 1.88 mJ; (4) intestinal mucosae were in the range of 0.07 mJ to 0.51 mJ, respectively.

As shown in Figure 2.2, the force of mucoadhesion increased with the increasing viscosity of HPMC, regardless of the type of mucosa used for measurement. This suggested that the viscosity of the polymer has a significantly impact on the mucoadhesive performance. Of the

mucosal surfaces evaluated, oral region exhibited better mucoadhesive performance, while intestinal mucosae showed the lowest mucoadhesive force among all different grades of HPMC.



*Figure 2.2.* The correlation between viscosity and force of mucoadhesion (FM) on porcine mucosae. Results measured on dry HPMC compacts. (n=6)

![](_page_48_Figure_3.jpeg)

*Figure 2.3.* The correlation between contact angle ( $\theta$ ) and force of mucoadhesion (FM) on porcine mucosae. Results measured on dry HPMC compacts. (n=6) Sublingual: y = 0.1224x - 6.493 ( $R^2 = 0.9762$ ); buccal: y = 0.09449x - 4.523 ( $R^2 = 0.9386$ ); stomach: y = 0.04847x - 1.937 ( $R^2 = 0.9501$ ); intestine: y = 0.01764x - 0.8478 ( $R^2 = 0.9743$ ). Linear regression was analyzed by GraphPad Prism 8.

This might be related with the differences in the biochemical property of each type of mucosa from different body regions.

Recall that in section 2.3.1, a positive correlation was found between viscosity and contact angle values. Thus, as shown in Figure 2.3, the correlation between contact angle and force of mucoadhesion is exhibited. The force of mucoadhesion increased linearly as the contact angle values increased, which denoted that there is a strong positive correlation between these two factors. Generally speaking, the increasing of contact angle values would indicate decreasing wettability of the solid surface, which further leads to a decrease in the adhesive strength [119, 120]. However, this positive correlation showed a contrary fact. The reason for the increasing contact angle values, as discussed before, might be due to the HPMC compacts surface became less rough and tended to be hydrophobic with the increasing viscosity. This contrary fact suggested that the mucoadhesive force was prone to be regulated by other factors rather than the surface hydrophilicity, which further implied that the effects of initial contact stage was masked from the effects of the latter consolidation stage of mucoadhesion. Therefore, it appeared to be inappropriate to interpret the mucoadhesive performance only from the surface hydrophilicity/hydrophobicity property.

## 2.3.3. The Impact of Lipid Content on Mucoadhesive Performance

As shown in Figure 2.2 and Figure 2.3, the mucoadhesive force exhibited differently on different types of issues. This phenomenon was most likely attributed to the varieties in biochemistry property of different types of mucosae. The mucosa is an assembly of similar cells and their extracellular matrix. The basic structure of cell membrane consists of lipid molecules forming a self-assembly lipid bilayer, with hydrophobic tails shielding from the water in the interior, and the hydrophilic headgroups exposing to the exterior [121]. In this case, when

placing a polymer compact on a piece of mucosa, the polymer compact can actually interact with the hydrophilic headgroups of cell membrane on a micro level. The hydrophilic headgroups and hydrophobic tails are composed of polar lipids and non-polar lipids, respectively.

Hence, the lipid content of each mucosa from literatures was organized as shown in Table 2.5 and Figure 2.4. It is obvious that the amount of polar lipids and the proportional of polar lipids to non-polar lipids in the mucosae were increasing in the rank of sublingual, buccal, stomach and intestine. In addition, the polar lipids were the main contribution to the increasing total lipid amount, thus the total lipids amount in each mucosa were also increasing with the aforementioned ranking order. Each slope from Figure 2.3 ( $\Delta FM/\Delta\theta$ ) can be defined as the rate of mucoadhesive force increases with the increasing viscosity of HPMC for each type of mucosal surface. Such defined parameter ( $\Delta FM/\Delta\theta$ ) showed negative linear correlation with the percentage of polar lipid content (Figure 2.5). From this "coincidence", it can be deduced that the mucoadhesive force might be altered by the proportion of polar lipids in the mucosa with a pattern: with the increasing viscosity of HPMC, the less the proportion of polar lipids in the mucosa, the larger the increasing rate of mucoadhesive force.

Owing to the polar lipids are the basis of forming the hydrophilic regions of cell membrane and the hydrophilic regions are facing outwards to the external environment, it is reasonable that the polar lipids can interact with the polymer and further influence the mucoadhesive force. Due to the natural of polar lipids, they are more favorable to interact with polymer with charges. However, HPMC belongs to the category of non-ionic polymers, thus the increasing of polar lipids did not promote the mucoadhesive interactions, instead, it hampered the interactions and weaken the mucoadhesive property of HPMC. Furthermore, when develop mucoadhesive dosage forms for regions with high proportion of polar lipids, such as the intestinal region, ionic polymers might be a preferable choice as the mucoadhesive material.

	Different types of mucosae					
	Sublingual	Buccal	Stomach	Intestine		
Total lipid	79.4	130.0	134.0	350.0		
Non-polar lipid	30.6	35.3	29.6	63.1		
Polar lipid	48.8	95.2	104.4	286.9		
Polar lipid/non-polar lipid	1.6	2.7	3.5	4.5		

Table 2.5Lipid Content (mg/g dry) of Different Types of Mucosae [122-125]

![](_page_51_Figure_3.jpeg)

*Figure 2.4.* The lipid content of different types of mucosa (buccal, sublingual, stomach and intestine).

![](_page_52_Figure_0.jpeg)

*Figure 2.5.* The correlation between slope of  $\Delta FM/\Delta\theta$  and polar lipid content. Pearson r = -0.9470. Correlation was analyzed by GraphPad Prism 8.

# 2.3.4. Hydration Behavior

Hydration behavior was measured by means of section 2.2.6. It was found that 5 min is enough to show the impact of hydration on in vitro mucoadhesive performance in our preliminary investigation. Therefore, 5 min was selected as the pre-hydration time.

The hydration behavior of HPMC is closely related to its structure and molecular weight. From chemistry point of view, the interaction between HPMC and water is mainly affected by the formation of hydrogen bonding. Based on the structure of HPMC, hydroxyl group acts as an electron acceptor when interacting with a water molecule, while methoxy groups act as an electron donor within hydrogen bonds [126].

The hydration behavior of different grades of HPMC compacts was shown in Figure 2.6. After pre-hydrating the HPMC compacts for 5 min, the hydration percentage showed an increase with the increasing of viscosity grades, which indicated the improved water uptake ability. The highest hydration percentage was seen at the highest viscosity grade, which was K15M. This hydration profile implied that the ability of dehydrating a mucus layer was promoted with the increasing viscosity in a short period of time.

![](_page_53_Figure_1.jpeg)

*Figure 2.6.* Hydration behavior of HPMC compacts in normal saline at 5 minutes. (n=3)

A layer of mucus gel sits on the mucosal surface which mainly contains over 95% of water and 0.2%-5% of mucin. Mucus gel is sandwiched between mucosal epithelial cell surface and the mucoadhesive in a mucoadhesive joint, and it was recognized that water displacement from the mucosal surface is a requirement for the material to form mucoadhesion. A substantial amount of water movement between a dry or partially hydrated mucoadhesive and a contacting mucosal surface could increase the cohesive and adhesive properties of the mucus gel, which further strengthen the mucoadhesive joint [127]. In this study, the aforementioned higher mucoadhesive force of HPMC may be due to its better ability of dehydrating the mucus gel to form a stronger adhesive joint, thus this provides a possible explanation to the result of improved mucoadhesive force with increasing viscosity.

The correlation between mucoadhesive force and hydration time was shown in Figure 2.7-Figure 2.10. After the pre-hydration process, most of the mucoadhesive forces decreased to

less than 0.5 mJ. Highest mucoadhesion was observed when compacts were in dry state, however, the mucoadhesive force reduced with the pre-hydration process. Mucoadhesive materials need to absorb water for binding, while surrounding by massive amount of water, the hydroxyl and methoxy groups in HPMC are attracted to water molecules, thus not sufficient amount of hydroxyl and methoxy groups are remained to conduct hydrogen bonding with mucus layer. Therefore, it was found that restricted hydration was required for stable long term mucoadhesion [128]. As the hydration of the compacts increased, the dehydration of mucus gel became more and more difficult. With the pre-hydration process, the polymer chain segments could be over extended and had less flexibility for interpenetration and entanglement resulting in lower mucoadhesion [129].

![](_page_54_Figure_1.jpeg)

*Figure 2.7.* Force of mucoadhesion of different viscosity grades of HPMC compacts measured with porcine buccal mucosae in SS at different hydration levels. Legends showing different time points in minutes. (n=6)

![](_page_55_Figure_0.jpeg)

*Figure 2.8.* Force of mucoadhesion of different viscosity grades of HPMC compacts measured with porcine sublingual mucosae in SS at different hydration levels. Legends showing different time points in minutes. (n=6)

![](_page_55_Figure_2.jpeg)

*Figure 2.9.* Force of mucoadhesion of different viscosity grades of HPMC compacts measured with porcine stomach mucosae in FaSSGF at different hydration levels. Legends showing different time points in minutes. (n=6)

![](_page_56_Figure_0.jpeg)

*Figure 2.10.* Force of mucoadhesion of different viscosity grades of HPMC compacts measured with porcine intestinal mucosae in FaSSIF at different hydration levels. Legends showing different time points in minutes. (n=6)

## 2.4. Summary

In this chapter, the surface hydrophilic property of HPMC was determined by their contact angle values. Positive correlation between contact angle values and viscosity values of HPMC was found suggesting that the degree of polymerization of HPMC affected the surface hydrophilicity. Moreover, smaller viscosity grades of HPMC compacts lead to relatively greater surface roughness and further resulted in smaller contact angle values. Additional investigation is needed to establish this observation.

The pH of the simulated body fluids did not significantly fluctuate the contact angle values, which attributed to the natural non-ionic property of HPMC. Such property promoted the broadly use of HPMC under diverse physiological situations.

The mucoadhesive force of HPMC on different types of mucosae suggested positive correlations with the viscosity values of HPMC. Moreover, the mucoadhesive force data measured on each mucosa were found positively correlated to the corresponding contact angle

values. Therefore, the mucoadhesive force was likely more impacted at consolidation stage than the initial contact stage.

The amount of polar lipids in each mucosa contributed to different mucoadhesive performance for HPMC compacts. The less the polar lipid amount, the better the mucoadhesive performance with greater viscosity grade of HPMC compacts. For regions with abundant amount of polar lipids, mucoadhesive polymer with charges would be a preferable choice than non-ionic polymers.

The pre-hydration behavior has increased with the increasing viscosity of HPMC. The mucoadhesive performance of HPMC compacts has significantly weakened after the prehydration process, which indicated that restricted hydration was considered as a crucial prerequisite for a prolonged and stable mucoadhesion process.

# CHAPTER 3: THERMODYNAMIC ANALYSIS OF MUCOADHESION ON POLYMER COMPACTS

## **3.1. Introduction**

During the development of mucoadhesive drug delivery system, the selection of mucoadhesive material in the formulation is always one of the major concerns for pharmaceutical scientists. In order to find materials with better mucoadhesive properties, it is essential to have a better understanding of mucoadhesion mechanisms. Mucoadhesion is a complex phenomenon, and as mentioned in the section 1.2, six theories have been proposed to describe the integrate process of mucoadhesion, including wetting theory, diffusion interlocking theory, electronic theory, adsorption theory, mechanical theory, and facture theory. One single theory may not able to describe the mucoadhesion phenomenon completely. However, a combination of these possible theories can lead to an explanation at different stages of the interactions between mucoadhesive materials and mucous membrane. The basic mechanism of mucoadhesion is commonly accepted as two stages: wetting or swelling of the mucoadhesive material, and interpenetration and formation of bonds between mucoadhesive and mucin chains [5]. A lot of researches have focused on these two stages to interpret the mucoadhesion phenomenon.

The interpenetration and interdiffusion mechanism have been supported by experimental studies with different methods. The spectroscopic analysis has been applied to study the interpenetration between mucoadhesive materials and mucin chains successfully, especially the ATR-FTIR spectroscopy [130-133]. The confocal laser scanning microscopy can also examine the penetration of fluorescent labelled polymers into the mucus gel layer [134]. Other indirect

studies for interpenetration is based on the rheological behavior at the interface of mucus gel and mucoadhesive. It was found that the molecular interpenetration can lead to rheological synergism between the mucoadhesive and mucosal surface, which would further consolidate the adhesive binding [135, 136].

The surface chemistry and surface free energy of materials contribute to the performance of many processes and products, one of which is mucoadhesion in the pharmaceutical field [137]. Thermodynamic analysis of surface energy can be used to study the mechanism of wetting, which is known as the driving force of mucoadhesion. The Lewis acid-base theory from Van Oss, Chaudhury and Good is the most developed model to interpret the principles related to the thermodynamic surface properties of solid. The progenitor of this theory was the division of surface free energy into Lifshiz-Van der Waals interaction ( $\gamma^{LW}$ ) and acid-base interaction  $(\gamma^{AB})$ . The Lifshiz-Van der Waals interaction originates from the molecular theory of intermolecular forces between nonpolar molecules. The acid-base interaction is mostly occurred by hydrogen bonding, especially in many nonmetallic condensed materials [138]. Due to the uniqueness of the acid-base interaction, the surface parameter is expressed using two terms: electron acceptor  $(\gamma^+)$  and electron donor  $(\gamma^-)$ . For a surface of interest, these surface parameters ( $\gamma^{LW}$ ,  $\gamma^+$  and  $\gamma^-$ ) can be quantified by contact angle measured with three specific liquid (one apolar liquid and two polar liquids), and the interfacial free energy in a binary system as well as the free energy of adhesion in a ternary system can be further calculated. A lot of examples showed that there is good correlation between total free energy of adhesion ( $\Delta G^{TOT}$ ) and the measured force of mucoadhesion [139-143]. However, wetting process only contributes to the initial step of mucoadhesion, thus thermodynamic analysis of mucoadhesion may be insufficient to describe the full process of mucoadhesion in some cases.

In this study, thermodynamic analysis of HPMC compacts (seven viscosity grades) was conducted by the Lewis acid-base approach in order to reveal the mucoadhesion mechanism of HPMC compacts. This investigation further examined if the experimental data are consistent with the computation results via the Lewis acid-base approach.

The impacts of viscosity grades and contact angle values of HPMC on their mucoadhesive performance is established in this study (chapter 2). Among different grades of HPMC, grade K15M showed the maximum mucoadhesive force. A combination polymer compacts of EC with viscosity of 10 cP and HPMC K15M were chosen in this study. EC, very similar to HPMC, is also one of the cellulose derivatives. Its structure contains repeating glucose units with some of the hydroxyl groups converted into ethyl ether groups (Figure 3.1). Due to the ethyl groups in its composition, it is not water soluble. EC belongs to the category of nonionic polymer, the hydroxyl groups on its structure are behaved as mucoadhesive functional groups. The ratio of EC in the combination compact was up to 40% due to the highest percentage of EC in solid dosage forms is normally no more than 40% [137-139]. The effects of physicochemical properties of mixed polymer compacts on the mucoadhesion was also studied from a thermodynamic point of view.

![](_page_60_Figure_2.jpeg)

Figure 3.1. Chemical structure of EC.

#### 3.2. Theory of Lewis Acid-Base Approach

The characterization of surface free energy components of solids and interfacial interactions are recognized as the key to understand the mechanism of surface-based phenomena. Lewis acid-base approach was developed from Van Oss, Chaudhury and Good to understand the theoretical principles related to thermodynamic surface properties of solids [138]. Based on Fowkes principle, the total surface energy ( $\gamma^{TOT}$ ) is divided into two components: Lifshiz-van der Waals interaction and Lewis acid-base interactions [139]. It can be expressed as follows:

$$\gamma^{TOT} = \gamma^{LW} + \gamma^{AB} \tag{3.1}$$

Where,  $\gamma^{LW}$  is Lifshiz-van der Waals interactions (apolar component);  $\gamma^{AB}$  results from Lewis acid-base interactions (polar component).

According to Dupre, when two unlike bodies *i* and *j* are brought together reversibly, the total free energy of adhesion  $\Delta G_{ij}$  for the interface between condensed phases *i* and *j* is given by [140]:

$$\Delta G_{ij} = \gamma_{ij} - \gamma_i - \gamma_j \tag{3.2}$$

$$\Delta G_{ij} = \Delta G_{ij}^{LW} + \Delta G_{ij}^{AB} \tag{3.3}$$

The Lifshiz-van der Waals interaction, which can also be referred as the apolar component, it is the lump of intermolecular interactions which includes London dispersion force, Debye force and Keesom force. London dispersion force have been considered as the predominate interactions between macroscopic bodies in condensed systems. Berthelot proposed a geometric mean combining rule for intermolecular interactions due to the symmetry of the London dispersion force [140]. According to its rule, the apolar component of surface free energy ( $\gamma_{ij}^{LW}$ ) and free energy of adhesion ( $\Delta G_{ij}^{LW}$ ) can be achieved:

$$\gamma_{ij}^{LW} - \gamma_i^{LW} - \gamma_j^{LW} = -2\sqrt{\gamma_i^{LW}\gamma_j^{LW}}$$
(3.4)

$$\gamma_{ij}^{LW} = \left(\sqrt{\gamma_i^{LW}} - \sqrt{\gamma_j^{LW}}\right)^2 \tag{3.5}$$

$$\Delta G_{ij}^{LW} = -2\sqrt{\gamma_i^{LW}\gamma_j^{LW}} \tag{3.6}$$

For acid-base component, the molecular interacting of the free energy of adhesion and of interfacial tension between two phases is mostly occurred by hydrogen bonding. The Lewis acid-base theory is more commonly used to describe hydrogen bonding. In an acid-base interaction, a complementary of functions exists due to the lack of symmetry. Thus, the acid-base parameter  $\gamma^{AB}$  is separate into two distinct parameters: electron acceptor  $\gamma^+$  (Lewis acid) and electron donor  $\gamma^-$  (Lewis base) component [140].

For a pure substance, the value of  $\gamma^{AB}$  can be calculated by the following equation:

$$\gamma^{AB} = 2\sqrt{\gamma^+ \gamma^-} \tag{3.7}$$

The acid-base component of surface free energy  $\gamma_{ij}^{AB}$  and free energy of adhesion  $\Delta G_{ij}^{AB}$  is given by:

$$\gamma_{ij}^{AB} = 2\left(\sqrt{\gamma_i^+ \gamma_i^-} + \sqrt{\gamma_j^+ \gamma_j^-} - \sqrt{\gamma_i^+ \gamma_j^-} - \sqrt{\gamma_i^- \gamma_j^+}\right)$$
(3.8)

$$\Delta G_{ij}^{AB} = \gamma_{ij}^{AB} - \gamma_i^{AB} - \gamma_j^{AB}$$

$$= -2(\sqrt{\gamma_i^+ \gamma_j^-} + \sqrt{\gamma_i^- \gamma_j^+})$$
(3.9)

On combining equation (3.6) and (3.9), the total free energy of adhesion  $\Delta G_{ij}$  between substances *i* and *j* is given by:

$$\Delta G_{ij} = \Delta G_{ij}^{LW} + \Delta G_{ij}^{AB} \tag{3.10}$$

$$= -2(\sqrt{\gamma_i^{LW}\gamma_j^{LW}} + \sqrt{\gamma_i^+\gamma_j^-} + \sqrt{\gamma_i^-\gamma_j^+})$$

According to Young-Dupre equation, when a liquid (1) is placed on the surface of an ideal solid (s), the free energy of adhesion across the interface ( $\Delta G_{sl}$ ) can be determined by measuring contact angles ( $\theta$ ) of the liquid on the surface of the solid:

$$\Delta G_{sl} = -\gamma_l (1 + \cos \theta)$$

$$= -2(\sqrt{\gamma_s^{LW} \gamma_l^{LW}} + \sqrt{\gamma_s^+ \gamma_l^-} + \sqrt{\gamma_s^- \gamma_l^+})$$
(3.11)

If three liquids  $(l_1, l_2, l_3)$  form non-zero contact angles  $(\theta_i, i = 1, 2, 3)$  on the surface of a solid, a set of general contact angle equations can be obtained:

$$\gamma_{l_1}(1 + \cos\theta_1) = 2(\sqrt{\gamma_s^{LW}\gamma_{l_1}^{LW}} + \sqrt{\gamma_s^+\gamma_{l_1}^-} + \sqrt{\gamma_s^-\gamma_{l_1}^+})$$
(3.12a)

$$\gamma_{l_2}(1 + \cos\theta_2) = 2(\sqrt{\gamma_s^{LW}\gamma_{l_2}^{LW}} + \sqrt{\gamma_s^+\gamma_{l_2}^-} + \sqrt{\gamma_s^-\gamma_{l_2}^+})$$
(3.12b)

$$\gamma_{l_3}(1 + \cos\theta_3) = 2(\sqrt{\gamma_s^{LW}\gamma_{l_3}^{LW}} + \sqrt{\gamma_s^+\gamma_{l_3}^-} + \sqrt{\gamma_s^-\gamma_{l_3}^+})$$
(3.12c)

For a non-polar liquid  $l_1$ ,  $\gamma_s^{LW}$  can be obtained by using equation (3.12a):

$$\gamma_s^{LW} = \gamma_{l_1}^{LW} \frac{(1 + \cos \theta_1)^2}{4}$$
(3.13)

Combining equations (3.12b), (3.12c) and (3.13), the values of  $\gamma_s^+$  and  $\gamma_s^-$  can be solved:

$$\sqrt{\gamma_s^+} = \frac{AF - BD}{CF - DE} \tag{3.14}$$

$$\sqrt{\gamma_s^-} = \frac{BC - AE}{CF - DE} \tag{3.15}$$

Where,

$$A = \gamma_{l_2} (1 + \cos \theta_2) - 2 \sqrt{\gamma_s^{LW} \gamma_{l_2}^{LW}}$$
(3.16)

$$B = \gamma_{l_3} (1 + \cos \theta_3) - 2 \sqrt{\gamma_s^{LW} \gamma_{l_3}^{LW}}$$
(3.17)

$$C = 2\sqrt{\gamma_{l_2}} \tag{3.18}$$

$$D = 2\sqrt{\gamma_{l_2}^+} \tag{3.19}$$

$$E = 2\sqrt{\gamma_{l_3}} \tag{3.20}$$

$$F = 2\sqrt{\gamma_{l_3}^+} \tag{3.21}$$

When the surface of material 1 (e.g. adhesive) is placed on the surface of material 2 (e.g. mucous membrane) immersed in a liquid 3 (e.g. biological fluid), the free energy of adhesion involved apolar ( $\Delta G^{LW}$ ) and polar ( $\Delta G^{AB}$ ) component can be calculated by the following equations [141, 142]:

$$\Delta G^{AB} = \gamma_{12}^{AB} - \gamma_{13}^{AB} - \gamma_{23}^{AB}$$

$$= 2 \left[ \sqrt{\gamma_3^+} \left( \sqrt{\gamma_1^-} + \sqrt{\gamma_2^-} - \sqrt{\gamma_3^-} \right) + \sqrt{\gamma_3^-} \left( \sqrt{\gamma_1^+} + \sqrt{\gamma_2^+} - \sqrt{\gamma_3^+} \right) - \sqrt{\gamma_1^+ \gamma_2^-} - \sqrt{\gamma_3^-} \right]$$
(3.22)

 $\sqrt{\gamma_1^-\gamma_2^+}]$ 

$$\Delta G^{LW} = \gamma_{12}^{LW} - \gamma_{13}^{LW} - \gamma_{23}^{LW}$$

$$= \left(\sqrt{\gamma_1^{LW}} - \sqrt{\gamma_2^{LW}}\right)^2 - \left(\sqrt{\gamma_1^{LW}} - \sqrt{\gamma_3^{LW}}\right)^2 - \left(\sqrt{\gamma_2^{LW}} - \sqrt{\gamma_3^{LW}}\right)^2$$
(3.23)

Thus, the total free energy of adhesion can be obtained:

$$\Delta G^{TOT} = \Delta G^{LW} + \Delta G^{AB}$$

$$= \gamma_{12} - \gamma_{13} - \gamma_{23}$$

$$= \gamma_{12}^{LW} - \gamma_{13}^{LW} - \gamma_{23}^{LW} + 2\left[\sqrt{\gamma_3^+}\left(\sqrt{\gamma_1^-} + \sqrt{\gamma_2^-} - \sqrt{\gamma_3^-}\right) + \sqrt{\gamma_3^-}\left(\sqrt{\gamma_1^+} + \sqrt{\gamma_2^+} - \sqrt{\gamma_3^+}\right) - \sqrt{\gamma_1^+\gamma_2^-} - \sqrt{\gamma_1^-\gamma_2^+}\right]$$
(3.24)

## 3.3. Calculation of Theoretical Hydroxyl Values of HPMC

HPMC can be considered as homopolymer, the number of hydroxyl groups can be obtained with a theoretical estimation assuming that the three substitutions (either a methyl, hydroxypropyl groups or a hydrogen atom) on HPMC are equally distributed in the polymer structure (recall Figure 1.6). In this case, two hydroxyl groups are theoretically on one repeating unit. HPMC has a linear structure as one of the cellulose derivatives [144], thus per polymer chain contains two ending groups. From the structure of HPMC, it should be noticed that one ending group has three hydroxyl groups. In general, the estimated hydroxyl group number (N) per polymer chain can be calculated as:

$$N = (n-2) \times 2 + 2 \times 3 \tag{3.25}$$

Where, n is the sum of repeating units and ending groups  $(n \ge 3)$ .

The molecular weight of one repeating unit or one ending group can be calculated based on the structure of HPMC. By knowing the molecular weight of different grades of HPMC, the mole number of repeating units in one mole of the polymer can further be quantified as follows:

Mole of repeating units 
$$=\frac{M_n \times 1 - M_{eg} \times 2}{M_R}$$
 (3.26)

Where,  $M_n$  is the molecular weight of the polymer;  $M_{eg}$  is the molecular weight of each ending group;  $M_R$  is the molecular weight of each repeating unit.

By using equation (3.25) and the mole number of repeating units, the number of hydroxyl groups in one gram of polymer can be calculated as follows:

$$N = \frac{1}{Mn} \times (mole \ of \ repeating \ units \times 2 + 2 \times 3) \times 6.02 \times 10^{23}$$
(3.27)

## 3.4. Materials and Methods

## 3.4.1. Materials

Glycerol (99.5+%) and diiodomethane (99%) were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Corporation. Ethyl cellulose 10 cP was purchased from DOW company. Others were the same as in section 2.2.1.

# 3.4.2. Preparation of HPMC and Combination Compacts

Different grades of HPMC compacts and combination compacts of HPMC K15M and EC were prepared. The method used to prepare polymer compacts has been described in section 2.2.2. The relative composition of the two polymers in the combination compacts ranged from 100/0-60/40 in K15M/EC weight percent ratio.

## **3.4.3.** Contact Angle Measurement

The method used to measure contact angle has been described in section 2.2.3. The apparent contact angles were measured by applying an aliquot (5  $\mu$ l) of water, glycerol (GL) or diiodomethane (DIM) on the surface of polymer compacts, respectively. Surface energy parameters of Lifshiz-van der Waals and the Lewis acid-base interactions of the polymer compacts were calculated using equation (3.12a)-equation (3.12c) based on contact angles of two polar liquids (water and GL) and one apolar liquid (DIM). The interfacial free energy of mucoadhesion in a binary system, which consists of polymer and water, was calculated by using equation (3.10). The free energy of mucoadhesion in a ternary system, which consists of mucin, polymer, and corresponding media (gastric fluid, normal saline, and intestinal fluid), was calculated by using equation (3.24). The surface energy parameters of water, glycerol, diiodomethane, mucin, gastric fluid, normal saline, and intestinal fluid applied in the calculation are listed in Table 3.1.

## 3.4.4. Force of Mucoadhesion Measurement

The method used to measure force of mucoadhesion of the polymer compacts has been described in section 2.2.5.

	γ	$\gamma^{LW}$	$\gamma^{AB}$	$\gamma^+$	$\gamma^{-}$
Water	72.80	21.80	51.00	25.50	25.50
Glycerol (GL)	64.00	34.00	30.00	3.92	57.40
Diiodomethane (DIM)	50.80	50.80	0.00	-	-
Mucin	46.20	6.92	39.28	49.17	7.84
Gastric fluid (pH 1.2)	75.90	40.40	35.50	5.80	54.70
Saline (pH 6.4)	74.50	28.80	45.70	6.90	75.80
Intestinal fluid (pH 7.5)	75.70	47.10	28.60	1.70	122.40

Table 3.1 Surface Energy Parameters (in mJ/m<sup>2</sup>) of Various Materials [145]

#### 3.5. Results and Discussion

# 3.5.1. Thermodynamic Analysis of HPMC Compacts

In order to probe the mucoadhesion mechanism of HPMC compacts from a thermodynamic point of view, the surface energy analysis with Lewis-acid base approach was utilized. The apparent contact angles of water ( $\theta_{water}$ ), glycerol ( $\theta_{GL}$ ) and diiodomethane ( $\theta_{DIM}$ ) on the surface of HPMC compacts were calculated as shown in Table 3.2. All the contact angle values were measured on dry polymer compact surfaces. The results showed that the standard deviation of the mean angles was between 1-3° for most of the compacts. The contact angles of  $\theta_{water}$  and  $\theta_{GL}$  increased whereas  $\theta_{DIM}$  decreased with the increase of viscosity of HPMC.

Table 3.2

$\frac{1}{2}$	···· •····· •·························	The second se	
HPMC	$ heta_{water}$	$ heta_{GL}$	$ heta_{DIM}$
К3	50.67±0.52	53.50±1.22	24.50±0.84
E3	53.33±0.82	57.33±1.37	20.00±1.10
E5	56.50±0.55	60.00±1.10	19.50±2.17
E50	58.17±1.98	61.17±0.98	18.17±1.47
K4M	61.00±1.55	62.67±1.21	17.83±1.33
E4M	62.83±0.75	63.67±0.82	16.33±1.21
K15M	68.67±1.21	67.00±0.89	14.33±0.82

The Apparent Contact Angles (°) of Water ( $\theta_{water}$ ), Glycerol ( $\theta_{GL}$ ), and Diiodomethane ( $\theta_{DIM}$ ) on the Surface of Different Grades of HPMC Compacts

Note. N=6.

Table 3.3 Single Component of Surface Energy Parameters (in mJ/m<sup>2</sup>) for HPMC Compacts

HPMC	$\sqrt{\gamma_s^+}$	$\sqrt{\gamma_s}$	$\gamma_s^+$	$\gamma_s^-$	$\gamma_s^{LW}$	$\gamma_s^{AB}$	$\gamma^{TOT}$
K3	0.09	5.40	0.01	29.12	46.33	0.94	47.27
E3	-0.21	5.33	0.04	28.42	47.78	-2.24	45.55
E5	-0.33	5.12	0.11	26.16	47.93	-3.37	44.56
E50	-0.39	4.97	0.15	24.72	48.30	-3.85	44.45
K4M	-0.42	4.69	0.17	21.96	48.39	-3.89	44.50
E4M	-0.45	4.49	0.20	20.20	48.77	-4.06	44.71
K15M	-0.54	3.88	0.29	15.09	49.23	-4.20	45.03

Using the contact angle data in Table 3.2, the surface energy parameters for each grade of HPMC compacts were calculated based on Lewis acid-base approach as shown in Table 3.3. It was noticed that most values of  $\sqrt{\gamma_s^+}$  and  $\gamma_s^{AB}$  for HPMC compacts (except K3) were negative.

Negative square roots, especially in the calculation of  $\gamma_s^+$ , were mostly exclusive for contact angles results. This can be explained by the experimental error in the measurement of contact angles. Good and Van Oss [140] noticed that a not implausible "correction" in one or more observed contact angles could eliminate small negative magnitude of  $\sqrt{\gamma_s^+}$ . Another consideration is that for solids with relatively low hydrophilicity, the contact angle of water might show a time dependent behavior, and eventually cause the presence of this error. Consider the negative values of  $\sqrt{\gamma_s^+}$  are empirically valid, equation (3.7) from section 3.2 must be written in the form below under this circumstance:

$$\gamma^{AB} = 2\sqrt{\gamma^+}\sqrt{\gamma^-} \tag{3.7b}$$

The significance of  $\sqrt{\gamma_s^+}$  can be interpreted as the acid character of the solid surface results in a negative contribution to the total surface energy ( $\gamma_s^{TOT}$ ) of the solid [139]. Using equation (3.7b), the result of  $\gamma^{AB}$  might be a negative value. For a mechanically stable condensed system, the negativity of  $\gamma^{AB}$  is physically acceptable if  $\gamma^{AB} < \gamma^{LW}$ , given that the total surface energy can remain positive [140, 143].

As shown in Table 3.3, the values of  $\gamma_s^-$  were relatively larger in comparison with the values of  $\gamma_s^+$  in all polymer compacts. Several possible explanations could explain this result. Firstly, due to the lone pair of electrons on the oxygen atom of the hydroxyl and methoxy groups, the HPMC showed predominantly more electron-donor tendency in dry state [146]. Secondly, it was pointed out that in certain carbohydrate structures, all the hydroxyl groups are pointed "inward" away from the adjacent phase. This is caused by the formation of hydrogen bonding by Lewis-neutralization between these hydroxyl groups and the Lewis base oxygen atoms of the adjacent hydroxyl groups. When stronger Lewis base is presented in the other phase, it might be expected that the those hydroxyl groups bonded with oxygen atoms can be

attracted by the external Lewis base, thus the hydroxyl groups can turn from "inward" to "outward" orientation. Another possible explanation is for hydrated surface, the water molecules may bond to the surface enough tightly that they cannot easily desorb, and the Lewis acid character may not be apparent [140]. In this study, it is not suitable to apply the last explanation as all the compacts were in dry state.

The profiles of calculated interfacial free energy in a binary system and free energy of adhesion in a ternary system are depicted in the following content. The calculation of interfacial free energy between HPMC compacts and four different media, including gastric fluid ( $\Delta G_{PG}$ ), normal saline ( $\Delta G_{PS}$ ), intestinal fluid ( $\Delta G_{PI}$ ), and water ( $\Delta G_{PW}$ ), were all negative (Table 3.4). With the increasing viscosity of HPMC, the values of  $\Delta G_{PG}$ ,  $\Delta G_{PS}$ ,  $\Delta G_{PI}$  and  $\Delta G_{PW}$  calculated from four corresponding media were increasing as shown in Table 3.4. Negative value of  $\Delta G$ indicates the spontaneous formation of adhesive joint in a certain system, the more negative value of  $\Delta G$  will imply higher potential of forming adhesive binding [140, 143]. Therefore, the potential of forming adhesive bond between polymer compacts and different media declined as the viscosity of HPMC increased. The correlation of contact angles of water and  $\Delta G_{PW}$  between polymer compacts and water is shown in Figure 3.2. The contact angle of water and  $\Delta G_{PW}$ showed a positive correlation with the increasing viscosity of HPMC. Increasing  $\Delta G_{PW}$  implies the potential of forming adhesive joints decrease between HPMC compacts and water, which also indicated the decreased surface wettability. This result was consistent with the increasing contact angles of water. Figure 3.3-Figure 3.6 showed the correlations of  $\Delta G_{PG}$ ,  $\Delta G_{PS}$  and  $\Delta G_{PI}$ with mucoadhesive force measured between HPMC compacts and different types of mucosae (buccal, sublingual, stomach and intestine). In all four figures, as the viscosity increased, an increase in  $\Delta G_{PG}/\Delta G_{PS}/\Delta G_{PI}$  and the corresponding increase in force of mucoadhesion measured on four types of mucosae was observed. This result agreed with the positive correlations found between mucoadhesive force and contact angles in section 2.3.2.

НРМС	$\Delta G_{PG}$ (pH 1.2)	$\Delta G_{PS}$ (pH 6.4)	$\Delta G_{PI}$ (pH 7.5)	$\Delta G_{PW}$
К3	-113.69±0.95	-102.89±1.21	$-109.18 \pm 2.03$	-118.94±0.51
E3	$-110.32 \pm 1.20$	-98.51±1.44	-103.89±2.14	-116.27±0.83
E5	$-107.65 \pm 0.95$	-95.40±1.24	$-100.83 \pm 1.86$	-112.98±0.58
E50	-106.44±0.93	-93.93±0.95	-99.53±1.56	-111.20±1.06
K4M	-104.73±0.99	-92.01±1.26	-98.26±2.51	$-108.09 \pm 1.72$
E4M	-103.62±0.73	-90.66±0.85	-97.32±1.46	$-106.04 \pm 0.85$
K15M	$-99.78 \pm 0.87$	-86.25±1.04	-94.21±1.62	-99.28±1.43

Table 3.4 The Calculated Interfacial Free Energy Between Different Grade of HPMC Compacts and Different Media ( $\Delta G$ , in mJ/m<sup>2</sup>)

*Note.* N=6.  $\Delta G_{PG}$ : the interfacial free energy between polymer compacts and gastric fluid;  $\Delta G_{PS}$ : the interfacial free energy between polymer compacts and normal saline;  $\Delta G_{PI}$ : the interfacial free energy between polymer compacts and intestinal fluid;  $\Delta G_{PW}$ : the interfacial free energy between polymer compacts and water.

![](_page_71_Figure_4.jpeg)

*Figure 3.2.* The correlation between  $\Delta G_{PW}$  of HPMC compacts and their contact angle data of water with the increase of viscosity. (n=6)


*Figure 3.3.* The correlation between  $\Delta G_{PS}$  of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine buccal mucosae with the increase of viscosity. (n=6)



*Figure 3.4.* The correlation between  $\Delta G_{PS}$  of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine sublingual mucosae with the increase of viscosity. (n=6)



*Figure 3.5.* The correlation between  $\Delta G_{PG}$  of HPMC compacts and force of mucoadhesion measured on porcine stomach mucosae with the increase of viscosity. (n=6)



*Figure 3.6.* The correlation between  $\Delta G_{PI}$  of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine intestinal mucosae with the increase of viscosity. (n=6)

Table 3.5

t	
ren	
ffe	
Di	
pl	
aı	
in,	
luc	
N	
cts;	
ba	
шс	
Ŭ	
1C	
PN	
Η	
of	
ide	
ira	
u C	
ren	
ffei	
Di	
$n_{\mathcal{B}}$	
noi	
ar	
on	
esi	
Чþ	
fA	
, 0,	
18.	
ine	
e E	$l^2$
re	V/m
$^{4}F$	гш
ıteι	in
ulc	Ġ
$\pi lc$	2
Ŭ	tia
Че	lec
	~

n ninati	(								
HPMC	Gast	ric fluid (pH	1.2)	Norm	al saline (pF	f 6.4)	Intesti	inal fluid (pl	H 7.5)
	$\Delta G^{LW}$	$\Delta G^{AB}$	$\Delta G^{TOT}$	$\Delta G^{LW}$	$\Delta G^{AB}$	$\Delta G^{TOT}$	$\Delta G^{LW}$	$\Delta G^{AB}$	$\Delta G^{TOT}$
K3	3.36±0.16	-2.92±2.27	$0.43\pm 2.15$	7.88±0.12	-0.97±2.51	6.91±2.42	-0.48±0.18	$44.59\pm 3.40$	44.11±3.27
E3	$4.15 \pm 0.18$	$-5.05\pm 2.00$	-0.91±1.97	8.46±0.13	$-3.91\pm2.22$	$4.55\pm 2.19$	$0.42 \pm 0.20$	$40.43 \pm 3.01$	40.85±2.97
E5	$4.22 \pm 0.33$	-4.16±1.82	$0.06\pm 1.60$	8.52±0.24	-3.42±2.07	$5.10\pm1.90$	$0.51 \pm 0.37$	$40.92 \pm 2.82$	41.43±2.56
E50	4.42±0.21	$-3.38\pm1.88$	$1.05\pm1.75$	8.66±0.15	$-2.85\pm 2.04$	$5.81 \pm 1.94$	0.73±0.24	$41.59{\pm}2.74$	42.33±2.60
K4M	$4.47\pm0.19$	$-1.01 \pm 3.95$	$3.46 \pm 3.95$	$8.70{\pm}0.14$	-0.68±4.20	$8.02 \pm 4.19$	$0.79 \pm 0.21$	44.39±5.62	45.18±5.61
E4M	$4.68 \pm 0.16$	$0.43\pm1.91$	$5.10\pm 2.02$	$8.85 \pm 0.12$	$0.57\pm2.02$	$9.42\pm 2.10$	$1.02 \pm 0.18$	$45.98 \pm 2.70$	47.00±2.83
K15M	$4.92 \pm 0.09$	5.22±2.46	$10.14\pm 2.58$	9.03±0.07	4.87±2.59	$13.90 \pm 2.58$	$1.30 \pm 0.10$	$51.47 \pm 3.46$	52.77±3.45

Note. N=6

The calculated results of free energy of adhesion among polymer compacts, mucin, and different body fluid (including gastric fluid, normal saline, and intestinal fluid) were shown in Table 3.5. The values of  $\Delta G^{AB}$  were mostly negative in the environment of gastric fluid and normal saline (except E4M and K15M), while the values of  $\Delta G^{LW}$  were positive in all the media.  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  showed the combination effects of these two interactions, which mostly remained positive. This result implied that Lewis acid-base showed potential of driving the spontaneous formation of adhesive bonding in some cases, however, the overall effect indicated that it was less likely to occur in spontaneous mucoadhesion. Figure 3.7A-Figure 3.7C represented the individual influence of  $\Delta G^{LW}$  and  $\Delta G^{AB}$  on  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  in three different media. As the viscosity of HPMC increased, the data of  $\Delta G^{LW}$  did not change significantly. This suggested that viscosity is not an influencing factor for the van der Waals forces generated between the mucosal surface and the polymer material. However, the van der Waals force exhibited different extent under different pH conditions.  $\Delta G^{LW}$  was the higher in the normal saline and gastric fluid, while near to zero in the intestinal fluid, which indicated weaker van der Waals force would occur between polymer compacts and mucin with the presence of intestinal fluid.

Furthermore, both the values of  $\Delta G^{AB}$  and  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  showed increasing trend respectively among "K" and "E" grades with the increasing of viscosity. The increasing of  $\Delta G^{AB}$  indicated the contribution from Lewis acid-base interaction was gradually decreasing. For HPMC, both hydroxyl and methoxy groups are the function groups that could induce acid-base interaction. However, the percentage of methoxy groups within different grades of HPMC were in the same range, thus the  $\Delta G^{AB}$  values might be regulated by the fluctuation in the amount of hydroxyl groups. From the trend of  $\Delta G^{AB}$ , it is reasonable to deduce that low viscosity grade of HPMC has more hydroxyl groups than the high viscosity grade. As shown in Table 3.6, theoretical number of hydroxyl groups for different grades of HPMC were calculated according to section 3.3. For both "K" and "E" grades, the theoretical number of hydroxyl groups was declining with the increasing of viscosity, which verified the inference and gave out an explanation for the increasing  $\Delta G^{AB}$ .

Greater influence of  $\Delta G^{AB}$  on  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  was noticed on the HPMC compact surface properties (Figure 3.7A-Figure 3.7C). This implied  $\Delta G^{AB}$  was the most considerable factor regulating the mucoadhesive force. Since, higher viscosity grades of HPMC exhibited larger mucoadhesive force (section 2.3.2), a positive correlation between  $\Delta G^{AB}$  and force of mucoadhesion resulted. It was observed that the better mucoadhesive performance from higher viscosity grade of HPMC was not hindered by relatively decreased hydroxyl groups as well as the reduced potential of forming hydrogen bonds (increased  $\Delta G^{AB}$ ). One potential explanation for this is the apparent contact angle was measured instantaneously after placing on the liquid drop. Due to its hysteresis phenomenon, the timing of measurement is one of the important factors which can affect the chemical interactions at the surface-liquid interface and further fluctuate contact angle values. While the complete formation of hydrogen bonds might be a longer period process, the  $\Delta G^{AB}$  calculated from those apparent contact angles were unlikely to represent the whole process of hydrogen bonding interactions. Therefore, although with reducing potential of forming hydrogen bonds, an increasing mucoadhesive force with increasing viscosity of HPMC was still possible.



*Figure 3.7.* Effect of  $\Delta G^{LW}$  and  $\Delta G^{AB}$  on  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  on the HPMC compact surface properties (A. normal saline; B. gastric fluid; C. intestinal fluid). (n=6)

Table 3.6

	Mwt	Number of	$\Delta G^{AB}$	$\Delta G^{AB}$	$\Delta G^{AB}$
HPMC	(g/mol) [147]	groups/gram	Gastric fluid	Normal saline	Intestinal fluid
K grade					
K3	6500	$4.92 \times 10^{21}$	-2.92±2.27	$-0.97 \pm 2.51$	44.59±3.40
K4M	66900	$4.76 \times 10^{21}$	$0.43 \pm 1.91$	$0.57 \pm 2.02$	45.98±2.70
K15M	75300	$4.76 \times 10^{21}$	5.22±2.46	4.87±2.59	51.47±3.45
E grade					
E3	8100	$4.89 \times 10^{21}$	$-5.05 \pm 2.00$	$-3.91 \pm 2.22$	40.43±3.01
E5	11100	$4.85 \times 10^{21}$	-4.16±1.82	$-3.42 \pm 2.07$	$40.92 \pm 2.82$
E50	33800	$4.78 \times 10^{21}$	-3.38±1.88	$-2.85 \pm 2.04$	41.59±2.74
E4M	61800	4.76×10 <sup>21</sup>	-1.01±3.95	$-0.68 \pm 4.20$	44.39±5.62

Calculated Number of Hydroxyl Groups and  $\Delta G^{AB}$  of Different Media of Different Grades of HPMC

Note. Grades are in italics.

Positive correlations were observed between  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  calculated in different media and force of mucoadhesion measured on different types of mucosae (Figures 3.8-Figure 3.11). Higher value of  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  commonly suggests lower potential of forming adhesive joint, in this case, with the increasing of  $\Delta G^{TOT}$ , the mucoadhesive force should be decreasing. However, instead of weakening the mucoadhesive property, the mucoadhesive force of HPMC was in fact increasing. It was stated in section 2.2.3 that other factors, such as viscosity and the ability of dehydrating the mucus layer, might be the main contributions to the mucoadhesive performance relative to the surface properties of the compacts. However, the basis of thermodynamic analysis was related to the surface properties of polymer compacts, thus a reasonable deduction is that calculated  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  could not interpret the mucoadhesive property of HPMC completely. Moreover, the timing effect on contact angle was lack of consideration in this study.



*Figure 3.8.* The correlation between  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine buccal mucosae with the increase of viscosity. (n=6)



*Figure 3.9.* The correlation between  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine sublingual mucosae with the increase of viscosity. (n=6)



*Figure 3.10.* The correlation between  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine stomach mucosae with the increase of viscosity. (n=6)



*Figure 3.11.* The correlation between  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  of HPMC compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine intestinal mucosae with the increase of viscosity. (n=6)

#### 3.5.2. K15M & EC Combination Compacts

According to the pattern in section 2.3.2, the mucoadhesive force of HPMC compacts increased with the increasing of contact angle values. EC was added into HPMC compacts which had the best mucoadhesive performance (K15M) in order to alter their surface hydrophilicity and contact angles. The contact angles of combination compacts were measured by placing different types of body fluid (SS, FaSSGF and FaSSIF) on the compact surface (same as section 2.2.3). EC is a relatively hydrophobic polymer in comparison with HPMC, thus involving of EC lead to a gradual increase in the contact angle values with the increasing percentage of EC (Table 3.7).

The mucoadhesive force of combination compacts were studied on four different types of porcine mucosal surfaces buccal, sublingual, stomach, and intestine (Figure 3.12). Unlike the results of HPMC compacts, the mucoadhesive force of combination compacts on buccal and sublingual mucosae have decreased with an increase in the amount of EC. For stomach mucosa, the mucoadhesive force showed an increase when involving 10% of EC in the combination compacts, however, the force decreased as EC percentage was increased to 40%. This might because of the low pH value in gastric fluid brought large number of protons and increased the hydrogen bonding efficacy when 10% of EC was involved. However, with the continuous increasing of EC, such effect may be influenced by other factors such as the decreased average viscosity or weakened hydration capacity. Although the mucoadhesive force measured on intestinal mucosa did not display considerable differences among combination compacts, the addition of EC resulted in an overall decrease in mucoadhesive force in relative to compacts with 0% of EC. In general, the mucoadhesive force of combination compacts have decreased with the addition of EC.

Combining the results of contact angle and mucoadhesive force of combination

compacts, the possible reasons for the decrease in mucoadhesive property may be their increased hydrophobicity, decreased hydration, and lowered interdiffusion between polymer chains and mucin chains. Therefore, owing to the combination compacts cannot sufficiently dehydrate the mucus layer, and the decreased ability of polymer chains entanglement and interpenetration, their force of mucoadhesion gradually decreased with the increasing percentage of EC in the compacts.

Table 3.7

The Apparent Contact Angles (°) of Different Body Fluids (SS, FaSSGF, FaSSIF) on the Surface of Combination Compacts

EC	SS	FaSSGF	FaSSIF
0%	75.67±2.58	76.33±1.86	74.50±1.76
10%	76.17±1.17	76.50±1.05	75.17±0.75
20%	77.00±1.26	76.83±0.75	75.33±1.21
30%	77.33±1.21	77.67±1.97	76.00±2.10
40%	77.50±1.05	78.33±1.63	76.33±1.37

Note. N=6.



*Figure 3.12.* The mucoadhesive force of combination compacts measured on porcine buccal, sublingual, stomach, and intestinal mucosae. (n=6)

# **3.5.3.** Thermodynamic Analysis of Combination Compacts

For the purpose of understanding the mucoadhesion mechanism of combination compacts (HPMC grade K15M and EC), thermodynamic analysis via Lewis acid-base approach was conducted. The combination compacts were prepared as described in section 3.4.2. The apparent contact angle values of water, glycerol, and diiodomethane on the surface of dry combination compacts are shown in Table 3.8. The standard deviation of the mean angles was below 2° for all the compacts. Due to the relatively hydrophobic property of EC, the contact angle values showed slightly increasing with increasing percentage of EC.

Using the data from Table 3.8, the surface energy parameters for combination compacts based on Lewis acid-base approach were calculated and the data is shown in Table 3.9. The reasons for the negativity of  $\sqrt{\gamma_s^+}$  and  $\gamma_s^{AB}$  as well as the smaller values of  $\gamma_s^+$  were similar to HPMC compacts as explained in the previously. A decrease of  $\gamma^{TOT}$  with the increasing percentage of EC was seen (Table 3.9).  $\gamma^{TOT}$  could be considered as the indication of the wettability of the solid surface [148, 149]. In this case, for the same kind of media, the wettability of the solid surface decreases with the increasing percentage of EC.

on the Surface of Dry Combination Compacts of HPMC K15M and EC					
EC (%)	$ heta_{water}$	$ heta_{GL}$	$ heta_{DIM}$		
0	68.67±1.21	67.00±0.89	14.33±0.82		
10	70.00±1.67	69.50±0.84	$19.00 \pm 1.55$		
20	70.00±0.63	69.67±1.03	21.67±1.21		
30	70.83±1.33	70.67±0.82	23.33±1.37		
40	71.17±0.41	72.00±0.89	26.83±0.41		

The Apparent Contact Angles (°) of Water ( $\theta_{water}$ ), Glycerol ( $\theta_{GL}$ ), and Diiodomethane ( $\theta_{DIM}$ ) on the Surface of Dry Combination Compacts of HPMC K15M and EC

Note. N=6.

Table 3.8

EC (%)	$\sqrt{\gamma_s^+}$	$\sqrt{\gamma_s}$	$\gamma_s^+$	$\gamma_s^-$	$\gamma_s^{LW}$	$\gamma_s^{AB}$	$\gamma^{TOT}$
0	-0.54	3.88	0.29	15.09	49.23	-4.20	45.03
10	-0.66	3.92	0.43	15.37	48.07	-5.16	42.91
20	-0.63	3.95	0.40	15.59	47.27	-4.99	42.28
30	-0.66	3.92	0.44	15.34	46.73	-5.19	41.54
40	-0.71	4.01	0.50	16.07	45.48	-5.68	39.79

Table 3.9 Single Component of Surface Energy Parameters (in  $mJ/m^2$ ) for Combination Compacts

The calculated values of  $\Delta G_{PG}$ ,  $\Delta G_{PS}$ ,  $\Delta G_{PI}$  and  $\Delta G_{PW}$  between combination compacts and different media are shown in Table 3.10. As the percentage of EC increases, the hydrophobicity of the surface increases and the wettability decreases, the trend of  $\Delta G_{PG}$ ,  $\Delta G_{PS}$ ,  $\Delta G_{PI}$  and  $\Delta G_{PW}$  calculated in different media exhibited increase. A positive correlation has been found between the contact angle of water and  $\Delta G_{PW}$  with the increasing percentage of EC (Figure 3.13), which revealed the decreasing surface hydrophilicity of combination compacts. The correlation of  $\Delta G_{PG}$ ,  $\Delta G_{PS}$ ,  $\Delta G_{PI}$  with mucoadhesive force measured on four different types of mucosae (buccal, sublingual, stomach and intestine) was shown in Figure 3.14-Figure 3.17. As the percentage of EC increases, negative correlations between  $\Delta G_{PG}/\Delta G_{PS}/\Delta G_{PI}$  and force of mucoadhesion were respectively observed in the figures. The increasing interfacial free energy ( $\Delta G_{PG}/\Delta G_{PS}/\Delta G_{PI}$ ) represented the decreased potential of forming adhesion joints between combination compacts and corresponding media. The decreasing mucoadhesive force showed an agreement with the interfacial free energy, which implied the mucoadhesive performance of combination compacts can be regulated by the surface energy parameters.

EC (%)	$\Delta G_{PG} ~(\mathrm{pH~1.2})$	$\Delta G_{PS}~(\mathrm{pH~6.4})$	$\Delta G_{PI}~(\mathrm{pH~7.5})$	$\Delta G_{PW}$	
0	-99.78±0.87	-86.25±1.04	-94.21±1.62	-99.28±1.43	
10	-97.17±0.87	-83.52±1.06	-90.58±1.55	-97.70±2.00	
20	-96.95±1.00	-83.49±1.20	$-90.43 \pm 1.80$	-97.70±0.76	
30	-95.84±0.76	$-82.37 \pm 0.98$	-89.13±1.68	-96.70±1.60	
40	-94.43±0.84	-81.06±1.05	$-87.08 \pm 1.69$	-96.30±0.49	

Table 3.10 The Calculated Interfacial Free Energy between Combination Compacts and Different Media  $(\Delta G, in m I/m^2)$ 

*Note.* N=6.  $\Delta G_{PG}$ : the interfacial free energy between polymer compacts and gastric fluid;  $\Delta G_{PS}$ : the interfacial free energy between polymer compacts and normal saline;  $\Delta G_{PI}$ : the interfacial free energy between polymer compacts and intestinal fluid;  $\Delta G_{PW}$ : the interfacial free energy between polymer compacts and water.



*Figure 3.13.* The correlation between  $\Delta G_{PW}$  of combination compacts and their contact angle data of water. (n=6)



*Figure 3.14.* The correlation between  $\Delta G_{PS}$  of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine buccal mucosae. (n=6)



*Figure 3.15.* The correlation between  $\Delta G_{PS}$  of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine sublingual mucosae. (n=6)



*Figure 3.16.* The correlation between  $\Delta G_{PG}$  of combination compacts and force of mucoadhesion measured on porcine stomach mucosae. (n=6)



*Figure 3.17.* The correlation between  $\Delta G_{PI}$  of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine intestinal mucosae. (n=6)

The total free energy of adhesion  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  was calculated among combination compacts, mucin and three different fluids (Table 3.11). Interestingly, with the increasing percentage of EC,  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  decreased. Therefore, when correlated  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  with force of mucoadhesion, they showed a similar decreasing trend, with the increasing of EC (Figure 3.18-Figure 3.21). A disagreement was found between  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  and force of mucoadhesion. As discussed in section 3.5.2 that the reduction in mucoadhesive force with increasing percentages of EC was likely attributed to the increased surface hydrophobicity, weakened hydration ability, and decreased entanglement and interpenetration between polymer chains and mucin chains. The decrease in mucoadhesive force was reasonable, thus the disagreement was probably caused by the results of  $\Delta G^{TOT}$ . Contact angle values were the only experimental data used to conduct the complex calculation of  $\Delta G^{TOT}$ . Obtaining meaningful contact angle values is extremely difficult, due to the measurement is depending on many experimental conditions such as the surface heterogeneities and asperities, surface cleanliness, and the resolution of measuring equipment and data interpretation. Furthermore, it should be stressed that an ideal solid surface was a critical premise obliged for the application of the Young-Dupre equation in the calculation. However, it is unlikely to have an ideal solid surface in our study, and most of the conditions mentioned above were lacking in control, thus it is rational for the theoretical calculated data to have flaws.

Table 3.11

		$\Delta G^{TOT}$	
EC (%)	Gastric fluid (pH 1.2)	Normal saline (pH 6.4)	Intestinal fluid (pH 7.5)
0	10.14±2.58	13.90±2.58	52.77±3.45
10	11.74±3.01	8.11±3.13	49.72±4.16
20	11.49±1.82	7.66±1.97	49.34±2.67
30	11.19±3.00	7.38±3.06	48.86±4.09
40	9.33±1.72	5.42±1.92	$46.27{\pm}2.60$

The Calculated Total Free Energy of Adhesion among Combination Compacts, Mucin, and Different Body Fluids ( $\Delta G^{TOT}$ , in mJ/m<sup>2</sup>)

Note. N=6.



*Figure 3.18.* The correlation between  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine buccal mucosae. (n=6)



*Figure 3.19.* The correlation between  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine sublingual mucosae. (n=6)



*Figure 3.20.* The correlation between  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine stomach mucosae. (n=6)



*Figure 3.21.* The correlation between  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  of combination compacts and their force of mucoadhesion data measured on porcine intestinal mucosae. (n=6)

# 3.6. Summary

Thermodynamic analysis of mucoadhesion was conducted on seven grades of HPMC compacts via Lewis acid-base approach for the purpose of predicting the driving force of mucoadhesion. The calculated results of interfacial free energies demonstrated the decrease in surface hydrophilicity with the increasing viscosity of HPMC. The explanation of the decreasing acid-base interaction with increasing viscosity of HPMC was provided by the calculated theoretical number of hydroxyl groups for different grades of HPMC. Moreover, the calculated  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  showed a disagreement with the measured force of mucoadhesion, which probably due to the boundedness of surface energy analysis and the imperfection in the contact angle measurement.

The combination compacts made up of EC and HPMC grade K15M were prepared for the purpose of modifying the surface hydrophilicity. As expected, the contact angle values of different body fluids were increasing with the increasing percentages of EC involved in the combination compacts. However, the force of mucoadhesion measured on buccal, sublingual and stomach mucosae showed an overall decline due to the reduced surface wettability. Due to the hydrophobic property and the low viscosity of EC, it was deduced that the weakened hydration ability and the decreased interdiffusion ability between polymer chains and mucin chains might also be the influencing factors contributed to decreased mucoadhesive force. In general, the involving of EC did not improve the mucoadhesive performance.

Furthermore, the same thermodynamic analysis was conducted on combination compacts. The results of interfacial free energy demonstrated the decreasing of surface hydrophilicity of combination compacts with the increasing percentages of EC involved. It is inferred that the surface property of combination compacts regulated the decreasing of mucoadhesive force. However, the calculate  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  was not accurate possibly due to the experimental defection of contact angle measurement.

## **CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSIONS**

The role of physicochemical properties of mucoadhesive polymers on the performance of *in vitro* mucoadhesion was investigated in this study. HPMC polymer compacts of different commercial grades were selected to investigate their surface hydrophilicity, mucoadhesive force, and hydration behavior. With the increasing viscosity, a decrease in surface hydrophilicity was observed as shown in the increase of contact angle values in different simulated body fluid along with a corresponding increased mucoadhesive force. The positive correlation between contact angle values and force of mucoadhesion was also demonstrated, suggesting that surface property cannot be used alone to describe the mucoadhesive performance.

Due to the ionic property of HPMC, it was insensitive to a range of pH values, which suggested its widely usage in a variety of physiological locations. It was shown that mucosal surface with lower amount of polar lipids might provide a better mucoadhesive performance for HPMC at higher viscosity grades. Therefore, from the formulation point of view and for mucoadhesive purpose, polymers with charges would be a superior choice than non-ionic polymers for sites with relatively greater amount of polar lipids such as intestine.

The hydration ability of HPMC compacts showed an enhancement with their increasing viscosity. According to the dehydration theory, this might imply that the ability of dehydrating the mucus layer was improved, and consequently resulted in higher viscosity grades of HPMC exhibiting higher mucoadhesive force. Compacts with 5 mins pre-hydration showed decreased mucoadhesive force in comparison with dry compacts that may be due to excessively extended polymer chains.

Thermodynamic analysis of mucoadhesion was conducted on HPMC compacts via Lewis acid-base approach for the purpose of predicting the driving force of mucoadhesion. The interfacial free energy between polymer compacts and different media verified the reduced surface hydrophilicity with increasing viscosity. However,  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  did not show an agreement with the measured force of mucoadhesion, which might be related to the constraint of thermodynamic analysis and the lack of consideration on contact angle hysteresis. Theoretical number of hydroxyl groups was reducing with the increasing viscosity of HPMC, which provided an explanation for the receding acid-base interaction.

EC was involved in the combination compacts with HPMC grade K15M for the purpose of altering the surface property. The addition of EC resulted in decreased surface hydrophilicity and weakened mucoadhesive performance of the combination compacts, which was mostly due to its low surface energy, hydrophobic property, and the low viscosity grade. In the thermodynamic analysis of EC,  $\Delta G^{TOT}$  also showed a disagreement with the measured force of mucoadhesion. This disagreement may be attributed to the imprecise measurement of contact angles. In general, the addition of EC in the polymer compacts did not result in an improved thermodynamically mucoadhesion process.

Contact angle measurement is an important parameter in the mucoadhesion. Lack of accuracy in its measurement will influence the results on surface properties and the thermodynamic analysis of mucoadhesion in this study. When it comes to a real surface, it is questionable whether it reflects the wettability of that surface by a single contact angle measurement. The behavior of the contact line on a real surface is complex because it depends not only on the implicit wettability of the solid but also other factors. The surface roughness of the polymer compacts was believed as an important factor regulating the outcome of contact

angle in this study, thus further investigations should be conducted to confirm its effect on fluctuating the contact angle values. Moreover, contact angle is in fact a dynamic process rather than static, therefore the measurement should be conducted with the consideration of time. The dynamic measurement of contact angles will potentially produce more reliable results in our research study.

The use of in vitro system to examine the ability of mucoadhesion is certainly helpful for the in vivo performance of formulation [150]. However, the in vitro system is limited of mimicking some of the complex characteristics such as mucus turnover, mucin flow, peristalsis and enzyme secretion inside the human body [151]. Therefore, the results from in vitro experiments may show distinctions with in vivo studies [152, 153]. The use of mucosae from various animal sources other than human may arise further limitations for the predictive capability of these in vitro systems. Moreover, the challenge of selecting the most suitable in vitro systems to decide the rank order of polymer materials concerning their mucoadhesive performance is also encountered [102]. In spite of the difficulties of directly correlate in vitro to in vivo results, it is still achievable under well-established mucoadhesion in vitro test systems [154].

Lastly, in order to have a complete understanding of mucoadhesion mechanism, further investigation on other adhesion theories and the characterization of other polymeric physicochemical properties should be done in future.

## REFERENCES

- Hombach, J. and A. Bernkop-Schnürch, *Mucoadhesive drug delivery systems*, in *Drug delivery*. 2010, Springer. p. 251-266.
- Gu, J., J.R. Robinson, and S. Leung, *Binding of acrylic polymers to mucin/epithelial* surfaces: structure-property relationships. Critical reviews in therapeutic drug carrier systems, 1988. 5(1): p. 21-67.
- 3. Boddupalli, B.M., et al., *Mucoadhesive drug delivery system: An overview*. Journal of advanced pharmaceutical technology & research, 2010. **1**(4): p. 381-387.
- Sudheer, P., *Mucoadhesive Polymers: A Review*. Journal of Pharmaceutical Research, 2018. 17(1): p. 47-55.
- Mansuri, S., et al., *Mucoadhesion: A promising approach in drug delivery system*.
   Reactive and Functional Polymers, 2016. 100: p. 151-172.
- Sudhakar, Y., K. Kuotsu, and A.K. Bandyopadhyay, *Buccal bioadhesive drug delivery A promising option for orally less efficient drugs*. Journal of Controlled Release, 2006.
  114(1): p. 15-40.
- Yu, T., G.P. Andrews, and D.S. Jones, *Mucoadhesion and characterization of mucoadhesive properties*, in *Mucosal Delivery of Biopharmaceuticals*. 2014, Springer. p. 35-58.
- 8. Ranade, V.V. and J.B. Cannon, *Drug delivery systems*. 2011: CRC press.
- Boateng, J., O. Okeke, and S. Khan, *Polysaccharide based formulations for mucosal drug delivery: a review*. Current Pharmaceutical Design, 2015. 21(33): p. 4798-4821.

- MonoSol Rx Leadership Presented PharmFilm Buccal Delivery Clinical Update at Leading Pharmaceutical Technology Meeting. Available from <u>https://aquestive.com/pharmfilm-buccal-delivery-technology-meeting/</u>. 2014.
- 11. Leal, J., H.D.C. Smyth, and D. Ghosh, *Physicochemical properties of mucus and their impact on transmucosal drug delivery*. Int J Pharm, 2017. **532**(1): p. 555-572.
- Lai, S.K., et al., *Micro- and macrorheology of mucus*. Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2009. 61(2): p. 86-100.
- Murgia, X., et al., *The role of mucus on drug transport and its potential to affect therapeutic outcomes*. Advanced drug delivery reviews, 2018. **124**: p. 82-97.
- Boegh, M. and H.M. Nielsen, *Mucus as a barrier to drug delivery–understanding and mimicking the barrier properties*. Basic & clinical pharmacology & toxicology, 2015.
  116(3): p. 179-186.
- 15. Thornton, D.J. and J.K. Sheehan, *From mucins to mucus: toward a more coherent understanding of this essential barrier*. Proceedings of the American Thoracic Society, 2004. 1(1): p. 54-61.
- 16. Meldrum, O.W., et al., *Mucoadhesive functionality of cell wall structures from fruits and grains: Electrostatic and polymer network interactions mediated by soluble dietary polysaccharides.* Scientific Reports, 2017. **7**(1): p. 15794.
- Meldrum, O.W., et al., *Mucin gel assembly is controlled by a collective action of nonmucin proteins, disulfide bridges, Ca2+-mediated links, and hydrogen bonding.*Scientific Reports, 2018. 8(1): p. 5802.

- Shogren, R., T.A. Gerken, and N. Jentoft, *Role of glycosylation on the conformation and chain dimensions of O-linked glycoproteins: light-scattering studies of ovine submaxillary mucin.* Biochemistry, 1989. 28(13): p. 5525-5536.
- 19. Bansil, R., E. Stanley, and J.T. LaMont, *Mucin biophysics*. Annual review of physiology, 1995. 57(1): p. 635-657.
- Yang, X., et al., Immobilization of Pseudorabies Virus in Porcine Tracheal Respiratory Mucus Revealed by Single Particle Tracking. PloS one, 2012. 7: p. e51054.
- Lieleg, O., I. Vladescu, and K. Ribbeck, *Characterization of particle translocation through mucin hydrogels*. Biophysical journal, 2010. **98**(9): p. 1782-1789.
- Dawson, M., D. Wirtz, and J. Hanes, *Enhanced viscoelasticity of human cystic fibrotic sputum correlates with increasing microheterogeneity in particle transport*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2003. 278(50): p. 50393-50401.
- 23. Murgia, X., et al., *Size-limited penetration of nanoparticles into porcine respiratory mucus after aerosol deposition*. Biomacromolecules, 2016. **17**(4): p. 1536-1542.
- 24. Celli, J.P., et al., *Helicobacter pylori moves through mucus by reducing mucin viscoelasticity*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2009. **106**(34): p. 14321-14326.
- 25. Henderson, A.G., et al., *Cystic fibrosis airway secretions exhibit mucin hyperconcentration and increased osmotic pressure*. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2014. **124**(7): p. 3047-3060.
- 26. Taherali, F., F. Varum, and A.W. Basit, *A slippery slope: On the origin, role and physiology of mucus.* Advanced drug delivery reviews, 2018. **124**: p. 16-33.

- 27. Tam, P.Y. and P. Verdugo, *Control of mucus hydration as a Donnan equilibrium process*. Nature, 1981. **292**(5821): p. 340-342.
- Bhaskar, K., et al., *Profound increase in viscosity and aggregation of pig gastric mucin at low pH*. American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 1991.
   261(5): p. G827-G832.
- 29. Tarran, R., et al., *The relative roles of passive surface forces and active ion transport in the modulation of airway surface liquid volume and composition*. The Journal of general physiology, 2001. **118**(2): p. 223-236.
- 30. Boucher, R., *Evidence for airway surface dehydration as the initiating event in CF airway disease.* Journal of internal medicine, 2007. **261**(1): p. 5-16.
- Boucher, R.C., *Cystic fibrosis: a disease of vulnerability to airway surface dehydration*.
   Trends in molecular medicine, 2007. 13(6): p. 231-240.
- 32. Raval, N., et al., *Fabrication of Mucoadhesive-Dendrimers as Solid Dosage Forms*, in *Pharmaceutical Nanotechnology*. 2019, Springer. p. 93-109.
- 33. Smart, J.D., *The basics and underlying mechanisms of mucoadhesion*. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2005. **57**(11): p. 1556-68.
- Chatterjee, B., et al., *Mucoadhesive Polymers and Their Mode of Action: A Recent Update*. Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science, 2017. 7: p. 195-203.
- 35. Smart, J.D., *Theories of mucoadhesion*. Mucoadhesive Materials and Drug Delivery Systems, 2014: p. 159-174.
- Tekade, M., et al., *Thiolated-Chitosan: A Novel Mucoadhesive Polymer for Better-Targeted Drug Delivery*. 2019: p. 459-493.

- 37. Roy, S., et al., *Polymers in Mucoadhesive Drug-Delivery Systems: A Brief Note*.
  Designed Monomers and Polymers, 2009. 12(6): p. 483-495.
- Shaikh, R., et al., *Mucoadhesive drug delivery systems*. Journal of Pharmacy and Bioallied Sciences, 2011. 3(1): p. 89.
- Kumar, V., et al., *Novel review on mucoadhesive drug delivery system*. International Journal of Research in Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2014. 5(3): p. 205-215.
- 40. Sau-Hung Spence, L. and J.R. Robinson, *The contribution of anionic polymer structural features to mucoadhesion*. Journal of Controlled Release, 1987. **5**(3): p. 223-231.
- 41. Sogias, I.A., A.C. Williams, and V.V. Khutoryanskiy, *Why is Chitosan Mucoadhesive?*Biomacromolecules, 2008. 9(7): p. 1837-1842.
- Jiménez-castellanos, M.R., H. Zia, and C. Rhodes, *Mucoadhesive drug delivery systems*.
   Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy, 1993. 19(1-2): p. 143-194.
- Mittal, K., I.S. Bakshi, and J.K. Narang, *BIOADHESIVES IN DRUG DELIVERY*. 2020:
   Wiley Online Library.
- 44. Hombach, J. and A. Bernkop-Schnürch, *Mucoadhesive drug delivery systems*. Handb Exp Pharmacol, 2010(197): p. 251-66.
- Ahuja, A., R.K. Khar, and J. Ali, *Mucoadhesive Drug Delivery Systems*. Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy, 1997. 23(5): p. 489-515.
- 46. Agarwal, S. and S. Aggarwal, *Mucoadhesive polymeric platform for drug delivery; a comprehensive review*. Current drug delivery, 2015. **12**(2): p. 139-156.
- 47. Kharenko, E., N. Larionova, and N. Demina, *Mucoadhesive drug delivery systems*.
  Pharmaceutical chemistry journal, 2009. 43(4): p. 200-208.

- Andrews, G.P., T.P. Laverty, and D.S. Jones, *Mucoadhesive polymeric platforms for controlled drug delivery*. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2009. **71**(3): p. 505-518.
- 49. Khutoryanskiy, V.V., *Advances in mucoadhesion and mucoadhesive polymers*.Macromolecular bioscience, 2011. 11(6): p. 748-764.
- 50. Singla, A. and M. Chawla, *Chitosan: Some pharmaceutical and biological aspects-an update*. Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology, 2001. **53**(8): p. 1047-1067.
- 51. Frank, L., et al., *Chitosan as a coating material for nanoparticles intended for biomedical applications*. Reactive and Functional Polymers, 2020. **147**: p. 104459.
- 52. Easson, J.H. and E. Haltner, *Bacterial invasion factors and lectins as second-generation bioadhesives*. 1999.
- Coelho, L.C.B.B., et al., *Lectins, Interconnecting Proteins with Biotechnological/Pharmacological and Therapeutic Applications*. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 2017. 2017: p. 1594074.
- Lehr, C.M., Lectin-mediated drug delivery: the second generation of bioadhesives. J Control Release, 2000. 65(1-2): p. 19-29.
- 55. Wirth, M., et al., *Lectin-mediated drug delivery: influence of mucin on cytoadhesion of plant lectins in vitro.* J Control Release, 2002. **79**(1-3): p. 183-91.
- 56. Clark, M.A., B.H. Hirst, and M.A. Jepson, *Lectin-mediated mucosal delivery of drugs and microparticles*. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 2000. **43**(2-3): p. 207-23.
- 57. Kochut, A. and P. Dersch, *Bacterial invasion factors: Tools for crossing biological barriers and drug delivery?* European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2013. 84(2): p. 242-250.

- 58. Labouta, H.I., et al., *Bacteriomimetic invasin-functionalized nanocarriers for intracellular delivery*. Journal of Controlled Release, 2015. **220**: p. 414-424.
- 59. Haltner, E., J.H. Easson, and C.-M. Lehr, *Lectins and bacterial invasion factors for controlling endo- and transcytosis of bioadhesive drug carrier systems*. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 1997. 44(1): p. 3-13.
- 60. Leitner, V.M., M.K. Marschütz, and A. Bernkop-Schnürch, *Mucoadhesive and cohesive properties of poly(acrylic acid)-cysteine conjugates with regard to their molecular mass*.
   Eur J Pharm Sci, 2003. 18(1): p. 89-96.
- 61. Netsomboon, K., et al., *Thiolated chitosans: Are Cys-Cys ligands key to the next generation?* Carbohydrate Polymers, 2020: p. 116395.
- 62. Laffleur, F., et al., *Next generation of buccadhesive excipient: Preactivated carboxymethyl cellulose*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2016. **500**(1-2): p. 120-127.
- 63. Madgulkar, A.R., et al., *Synthesis and characterization of a novel mucoadhesive derivative of xyloglucan*. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2016. **135**: p. 356-362.
- Kafedjiiski, K., et al., *Synthesis and in vitro evaluation of thiolated hyaluronic acid for mucoadhesive drug delivery*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2007. 343(1): p. 48-58.
- 65. Bernkop-Schnürch, A., *Thiomers: A new generation of mucoadhesive polymers*.Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 2005. 57(11): p. 1569-1582.
- 66. Duggan, S., et al., *Thiolated polymers as mucoadhesive drug delivery systems*. European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2017. **100**: p. 64-78.

- 67. Albrecht, K. and A. Bernkop-Schnürch, *Thiomers: forms, functions and applications to nanomedicine*. Nanomedicine (Lond), 2007. **2**(1): p. 41-50.
- 68. Naveen, N.R., C. Gopinath, and D.S. Rao, *A spotlight on thiolated natural polymers and their relevance in mucoadhesive drug delivery system*. Future Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2018. **4**(1): p. 47-52.
- 69. Timmins, P., S.R. Pygall, and C.D. Melia, *Hydrophilic matrix tablets for oral controlled release*. 2014: Springer.
- 70. Rowe, R.C., P. Sheskey, and M. Quinn, *Handbook of pharmaceutical excipients*. 2009: Libros Digitales-Pharmaceutical Press.
- 71. Mašková, E., et al., *Hypromellose–A traditional pharmaceutical excipient with modern applications in oral and oromucosal drug delivery*. Journal of Controlled Release, 2020.
- Palem, C.R., et al., *Transmucosal delivery of domperidone from bilayered buccal patches: in vitro, ex vivo and in vivo characterization*. Archives of pharmacal research, 2011. 34(10): p. 1701-1710.
- 73. Gannu, R., C.R. Palem, and Y.M. Rao, *Development of novel bioadhesive buccal formulation of diltiazem: in vitro and in vivo characterization*. PDA Journal of Pharmaceutical Science and Technology, 2009. **63**(5): p. 401-408.
- de Sá, L.L.F., et al., *Design of buccal mucoadhesive tablets: Understanding and development*. Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science, 2018. 8(02): p. 150-163.
- 75. Velmurugan, S., et al., Formulation and in-vitro Evaluation of Buccal Tablets of Piroxicam. International Journal of PharmTech Research, 2010. 2(3): p. 1958-1968.

- 76. Shivanand, K., et al., *In vivo bioavailability studies of sumatriptan succinate buccal tablets*. DARU: Journal of Faculty of Pharmacy, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, 2011. 19(3): p. 224.
- Reddy, P.C., K. Chaitanya, and Y.M. Rao, A review on bioadhesive buccal drug delivery systems: current status of formulation and evaluation methods. DARU Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2011. 19(6): p. 385.
- 78. Jain, C., et al., Enhanced Permeation of Antiemetic Drug from Buccoadhesive Tablets by Using Bile Salts as Permeation Enhancers: Formulation characterization, In Vitro and Ex Vivo Studies. Scientia pharmaceutica, 2016. 84(2): p. 379-392.
- 79. Jaffar, I.S. and N.K. Maraie, *Formulation and in vitro evaluation of buccal mucoadhesive tablets of promethazine HCl.* Int J Pharm Sci Rev Res, 2014. **24**: p. 61-9.
- 80. Vinay, C. and M.G. Ahmed, *Formulation and evaluation of mucoadhesive buccal tablets of candesartan.* Journal of Drug Delivery and Therapeutics, 2015. **5**(5): p. 56-63.
- 81. Misra, R. and P. Bhardwaj, *Development and characterization of novel floatingmucoadhesive tablets bearing venlafaxine hydrochloride*. Scientifica, 2016. **2016**.
- 82. Ikram, M., N. Gilhotra, and R.M. Gilhotra, *Formulation and optimization of mucoadhesive buccal patches of losartan potassium by using response surface methodology*. Advanced Biomedical Research, 2015. **4**.
- 83. Mishra, S.K., N. Garud, and R. Singh, *Development and evaluation of mucoadhesive buccal patches of flurbiprofen.* Acta Pol Pharm, 2011. **68**(6): p. 955-964.
- Cavallari, C., A. Fini, and F. Ospitali, *Mucoadhesive multiparticulate patch for the intrabuccal controlled delivery of lidocaine*. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2013. 83(3): p. 405-414.

- Saxena, A., G. Tewari, and S.A. Saraf, *Formulation and evaluation of mucoadhesive* buccal patch of acyclovir utilizing inclusion phenomenon. Brazilian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2011. 47(4): p. 887-897.
- 86. Hassan, M., et al., *Formulation and in vitro/in vivo evaluation of naproxen mucoadhesive buccal patches for local effect*. Journal of drug delivery science and technology, 2011.
  21(5): p. 423.
- 87. Jones, E., et al., *Monolayered multipolymeric buccal films with drug and polymers of opposing solubilities for ARV therapy: physico-mechanical evaluation and molecular mechanics modelling*. International journal of pharmaceutics, 2013. **455**(1-2): p. 197-212.
- Choudhury, A., et al., *Development and characterization buccoadhesive film of ciprofloxacin hydrochloride*. Int J Pharm Tech Res, 2010. 2(2): p. 1050-7.
- 89. Alkhalidi, H.M., et al., *In vitro and preclinical assessment of factorial design based nanoethosomal transdermal film formulation of mefenamic acid to overcome barriers to its use in relieving pain and inflammation*. Journal of Drug Delivery Science and Technology, 2018. **48**: p. 450-456.
- 90. Salehi, S. and S. Boddohi, *New formulation and approach for mucoadhesive buccal film of rizatriptan benzoate*. Progress in biomaterials, 2017. **6**(4): p. 175-187.
- 91. Lodhi, M., et al., *Formulation and evaluation of buccal film of Ivabradine hydrochloride for the treatment of stable angina pectoris.* International journal of pharmaceutical investigation, 2013. **3**(1): p. 47.
- 92. Divyen, S., et al., *Formulation of a water soluble mucoadhesive film of lycopene for treatment of leukoplakia.* Inter. J. of Pharm. Sci. Revi. and Resear, 2010. **2**(1).

- 93. Ibrahim, H.M., et al., *Mucoadhesive controlled release microcapsules of indomethacin: Optimization and stability study.* Journal of microencapsulation, 2010. 27(5): p. 377-386.
- 94. Zong, S., et al., *The use of cisplatin-loaded mucoadhesive nanofibers for local chemotherapy of cervical cancers in mice*. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2015. **93**: p. 127-135.
- 95. Tort, S. and F. Acartürk, *Preparation and characterization of electrospun nanofibers containing glutamine*. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2016. **152**: p. 802-814.
- 96. Nair, A.B., et al., *HPMC-and PLGA-Based Nanoparticles for the Mucoadhesive Delivery* of Sitagliptin: Optimization and In Vivo Evaluation in Rats. Materials, 2019. 12(24): p. 4239.
- 97. Nokhodchi, A., et al., *The role of oral controlled release matrix tablets in drug delivery systems*. BioImpacts: BI, 2012. **2**(4): p. 175.
- 98. Punitha, S. and Y. Girish, *Polymers in mucoadhesive buccal drug delivery system–A review*. International Journal of Research in Pharmaceutical Sciences, 2010. **1**(2).
- 99. Verma, S., *Polymers in designing the mucoadhesive films: A comprehensive review*.
  International Journal of Green Pharmacy (IJGP), 2018. 12(02).
- 100. *Mucoadhesive Polymers and Their Mode of Action: A Recent Update*. Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science, 2017.
- 101. Wong, C.F., K.H. Yuen, and K.K. Peh, *An in-vitro method for buccal adhesion studies: importance of instrument variables*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 1999. 180(1): p. 47-57.

- 102. Ivarsson, D. and M. Wahlgren, Comparison of in vitro methods of measuring mucoadhesion: Ellipsometry, tensile strength and rheological measurements. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 2012. 92: p. 353-359.
- Bassi da Silva, J., et al., A critical review about methodologies for the analysis of mucoadhesive properties of drug delivery systems. Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy, 2017. 43(7): p. 1053-1070.
- 104. Thirawong, N., et al., *Mucoadhesive properties of various pectins on gastrointestinal mucosa: An in vitro evaluation using texture analyzer*. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2007. 67(1): p. 132-140.
- 105. Kararli, T.T., Comparison of the gastrointestinal anatomy, physiology, and biochemistry of humans and commonly used laboratory animals. Biopharmaceutics & Drug Disposition, 1995. 16(5): p. 351-380.
- Tapking, C., D. Popp, and L.K. Branski, *Pig Model to Test Tissue-Engineered Skin*.
  Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, N.J.), 2019. **1993**: p. 239-249.
- 107. Neff, E.P., Cancer modeling thinks big with the pig. Lab Animal, 2019. 48(3): p. 75-78.
- Chemistry of METHOCEL<sup>™</sup> Cellulose Ethers A Technical Review. 2013, Dow Chemical Company: Midland, MI, USA.
- 109. Marques, M.R., R. Loebenberg, and M. Almukainzi, *Simulated biological fluids with possible application in dissolution testing*. Dissolution Technol, 2011. **18**(3): p. 15-28.
- 110. Chapter 2 Membrane materials, in Membrane Science and Technology, E. Drioli, A. Criscuoli, and E. Curcio, Editors. 2006, Elsevier. p. 40-104.
- 111. Dwivedi, C., et al., Chapter 9 Electrospun Nanofibrous Scaffold as a Potential Carrier of Antimicrobial Therapeutics for Diabetic Wound Healing and Tissue Regeneration, in
*Nano- and Microscale Drug Delivery Systems*, A.M. Grumezescu, Editor. 2017, Elsevier. p. 147-164.

- Huang, X. and I. Gates, *Apparent Contact Angle around the Periphery of a Liquid Drop* on Roughened Surfaces. Scientific Reports, 2020. 10(1): p. 8220.
- 113. Kulinich, S.A. and M. Farzaneh, *Effect of contact angle hysteresis on water droplet evaporation from super-hydrophobic surfaces*. Applied Surface Science, 2009. 255(7): p. 4056-4060.
- 114. Gribanova, E., A. Kuchek, and M. Larionov, *Factors influencing the contact angle value*. *The contact angle, as a characteristic of the properties of solid surfaces*. Russian
  Chemical Bulletin, 2016. 65(1): p. 1-13.
- 115. Rudawska, A., 9 Assessment of surface preparation for the bonding/adhesive technology, in Surface Treatment in Bonding Technology, A. Rudawska, Editor. 2019, Academic Press. p. 227-275.
- 116. Joshi, S. and B. Chen. *Swelling, dissolution and disintegration of HPMC in aqueous media.* in *13th International Conference on Biomedical Engineering.* 2009. Springer.
- 117. Wenzel, R.N., *Resistance of solid surfaces to wetting by water*. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry, 1936. 28(8): p. 988-994.
- Kim, D., N.M. Pugno, and S. Ryu, Wetting theory for small droplets on textured solid surfaces. Scientific Reports, 2016. 6(1): p. 37813.
- Li, C., P.P. Bhatt, and T.P. Johnston, *Evaluation of a Mucoadhesive Buccal Patch for Delivery of Peptides: In Vitro Screening of Bioadhesion*. Drug Development and Industrial Pharmacy, 1998. 24(10): p. 919-926.

- 120. Yoo, J.-W., K. Dharmala, and C.H. Lee, *The physicodynamic properties of mucoadhesive polymeric films developed as female controlled drug delivery system*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 2006. **309**(1): p. 139-145.
- 121. Alberts B, J.A., Lewis J, et al., *The Lipid Bilayer.*, in *Molecular Biology of the Cell. 4th edition*. 2002, W. W. Norton & Co.: New York.
- Burken, R.R., P.W. Wertz, and D.T. Downing, A survey of polar and nonpolar lipids extracted from snake skin. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B:
   Comparative Biochemistry, 1985. 81(2): p. 315-318.
- 123. Christiansen, K. and J. Carlsen, *Microvillus membrane vesicles from pig small intestine Purity and lipid composition*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes, 1981. 647(2): p. 188-195.
- 124. Law, S., et al., *Regional variation in content, composition and organization of porcine epithelial barrier lipids revealed by thin-layer chromatography and transmission electron microscopy.* Archives of Oral Biology, 1995. **40**(12): p. 1085-1091.
- 125. Sen, P.C. and T.K. Ray, *Characterization of gastric mucosal membranes: II. Lipid compositions of purified gastric mitochondria from pig, rabbit and frog.* Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Lipids and Lipid Metabolism, 1980. **618**(2): p. 300-307.
- Palusiak, M. and S.J. Grabowski, *Methoxy group as an acceptor of proton in hydrogen bonds*. Journal of Molecular Structure, 2002. 642(1-3): p. 97-104.
- Mortazavi, S.A. and J.D. Smart, *An investigation into the role of water movement and mucus gel dehydration in mucoadhesion*. Journal of Controlled Release, 1993. 25(3): p. 197-203.

- Alireza Mortazavi, S. and J.D. Smart, An in-vitro method for assessing the duration of mucoadhesion. Journal of Controlled Release, 1994. 31(2): p. 207-212.
- 129. Xiang, J., *In vitro study of transbuccal drug delivery systems: Mucoadhesion of a novel bioadhesive and permeation of zalcitabine*. 2000, University of the Pacific: Ann Arbor. p. 191.
- Jabbari, E., N. Wisniewski, and N.A. Peppas, *Evidence of mucoadhesion by chain interpenetration at a poly (acrylic acid)/mucin interface using ATR-FTIR spectroscopy*. Journal of controlled release, 1993. 26(2): p. 99-108.
- 131. Degim, Z. and I. Kellaway, *An investigation of the interfacial interaction between poly* (*acrylic acid*) *and glycoprotein*. International journal of pharmaceutics, 1998. 175(1): p. 9-16.
- 132. Saiano, F., et al., Evaluation of mucoadhesive properties of α,β-poly(N-hydroxyethyl)-dl-aspartamide and α,β-poly(aspartylhydrazide) using ATR–FTIR spectroscopy. Polymer, 2002. 43(23): p. 6281-6286.
- Sriamornsak, P., et al., *Mucoadhesion of pectin as evidence by wettability and chain interpenetration*. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2008. 74(3): p. 458-467.
- Imam, M.E., et al., Evidence for the interpenetration of mucoadhesive polymers into the mucus gel layer. S.T.P. Pharma Sciences, 2003. 13: p. 171-176.
- 135. Mortazavi, S.A., B.G. Carpenter, and J.D. Smart, *An investigation of the rheological behaviour of the mucoadhesive/mucosal interface*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 1992. 83(1): p. 221-225.

- Madsen, F., K. Eberth, and J.D. Smart, A rheological examination of the mucoadhesive/mucus interaction: the effect of mucoadhesive type and concentration. Journal of Controlled Release, 1998. 50(1): p. 167-178.
- 137. Etzler, F.M., *Characterization of surface free energies and surface chemistry of solids*.Contact angle, wettability and adhesion, 2003. 3: p. 219-264.
- 138. Van Oss, C.J., M.K. Chaudhury, and R.J. Good, *Interfacial Lifshitz-van der Waals and polar interactions in macroscopic systems*. Chemical Reviews, 1988. **88**(6): p. 927-941.
- Good, R.J., *Contact angle, wetting, and adhesion: a critical review.* Journal of Adhesion Science and Technology, 1992. 6(12): p. 1269-1302.
- Good, R.J. and C.J. van Oss, *The modern theory of contact angles and the hydrogen bond components of surface energies*, in *Modern approaches to wettability*. 1992, Springer. p. 1-27.
- 141. Rillosi, M. and G. Buckton, Modelling mucoadhesion by use of surface energy terms obtained from the Lewis acid-Lewis base approach. II. Studies on anionic, cationic, and unionisable polymers. Pharm Res, 1995. 12(5): p. 669-75.
- Rillosi, M. and G. Buckton, *Modelling mucoadhesion by use of surface energy terms obtained by the Lewis acid-Lewis base approach*. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 1995. 117(1): p. 75-84.
- 143. Xiang, J. and X. Li, *Investigation of correlations between mucoadhesion and surface* energy properties of mucoadhesives. Journal of applied polymer science, 2006. 102(3): p. 2608-2615.
- 144. Sharma, A., et al., *Commercial application of cellulose nano-composites A review*.
  Biotechnology Reports, 2019. 21: p. e00316.

- 145. Buckton, G. and M.M. Cappuccinello, Modeling mucoadhesion by use of surface energy terms obtained by the Lewis acid-Lewis base approach: III. An interaction between Teflon and carbopol. Pharm Res, 1998. 15(3): p. 502-3.
- 146. Van Oss, C.J., R.F. Giese, and W. Wu, On the Predominant Electron-Donicity of Polar Solid Surfaces. The Journal of Adhesion, 1997. 63(1-3): p. 71-88.
- 147. Keary, C.M., *Characterization of METHOCEL cellulose ethers by aqueous SEC with multiple detectors*. Carbohydrate Polymers, 2001. **45**(3): p. 293-303.
- 148. Song, K., et al., Interaction of surface energy components between solid and liquid on wettability, and its application to textile anti-wetting finish. Polymers, 2019. 11(3): p. 498.
- 149. Bao, L., et al., *Effect of surface free energy and wettability on the adhesion property of waterborne polyurethane adhesive*. RSC advances, 2016. 6(101): p. 99346-99352.
- Baus, R.A., et al., *Mucoadhesive hydrogels for buccal drug delivery: In vitro-in vivo correlation study*. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 2019. 142: p. 498-505.
- 151. Kumar, A., et al., *Mucoadhesive formulations: innovations, merits, drawbacks, and future outlook.* Pharmaceutical Development and Technology, 2020. **25**(7): p. 797-814.
- 152. Nafee, N.A., et al., *Mucoadhesive delivery systems. I. Evaluation of mucoadhesive polymers for buccal tablet formulation.* Drug Dev Ind Pharm, 2004. **30**(9): p. 985-93.
- 153. Yehia, S.A., O.N. El-Gazayerly, and E.B. Basalious, *Fluconazole mucoadhesive buccal films: in vitro/in vivo performance.* Curr Drug Deliv, 2009. **6**(1): p. 17-27.
- Baus, R.A., et al., *In Vitro–in Vivo Correlation of Mucoadhesion Studies on Buccal Mucosa*. Molecular Pharmaceutics, 2019. 16(6): p. 2719-2727.